
 
 

SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 6 September 2016 2.00 pm 
Committee Room, North 

Kesteven District Council 
Offices 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Stewart Ogden (North Kesteven District Council) 
(Chair), Donald Nannestad (City of Lincoln Council) (Vice-Chair), 
Ray Cucksey (North Kesteven District Council) and Ric Metcalfe 
(City of Lincoln Council) 
 

Substitute members: 
 

Councillors Geoff Hazelwood (North Kesteven District Council), 
Fay Smith (City of Lincoln Council), Richard Wright (North 
Kesteven District Council) and Peter West 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Democratic Services (City of Lincoln Council) and Martin 
Walmsley (City of Lincoln Council) 
 

A G E N D A 

 
If members are unable to attend the meeting, please advise Charlie Mason 

(Democratic Services Officer) on 01522 873533 as soon as possible. Substitute 
members will be contacted if they are required to attend the meeting. 

 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 24 May 2016  
 

3 - 6 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  Members' Summary of Reports  
 
A summary of reports is provided for members’ information. 
 

7 - 8 

4.  Communications Update  
 

9 - 12 

5.  Performance Update  
 

13 - 20 

6.  Quarter 1 2016/17 Financial Monitoring  
 

21 - 26 

7.  Annual Report 2015/16  
 

27 - 36 

Public Document Pack



 

8.  Welfare Reform Update  
 

37 - 58 

9.  Internal Audit Report - Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support  
 

59 - 78 

10.  Shared Service as an Agency  
 

79 - 82 

11.  Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
You are asked to resolve that the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items because it is 
likely that if members of the press or public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of 'exempt information'. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
notice is hereby given of items which will be considered in private, for 
which either 28 days' notice has been given or approval has been 
granted by the appropriate person specified in the Regulations. For 
further details please visit our website at http://www.lincoln.gov.uk or 
contact Democratic Services at City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln. 
 
Revenues and Benefits ICT Contract/ Review of Shared Service. 
These items are being considered in private as they are likely to disclose 
exempt information, as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. No representations have been received in 
relation to the proposals to consider these items in private. 
 

83 - 84 

12.  Revenues and Benefits ICT Contract 
 [Exempt Para(s) 3] 
 

 

85 - 88 

13.  Review of Shared Service 
 [Exempt Para(s) 1] 
 

 

89 - 104 

Details of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 22 November 2016 (2.00 pm) in Committee Room 1, 
City Hall 

 

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/


Shared Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 24 May 2016 

 
Present: Councillor Stewart Ogden (in the Chair),  

Councillor Donald Nannestad, Councillor Ray Cucksey 
and Councillor Ric Metcalfe 
 

Apologies for Absence: None. 
 

 
1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 23 February 2016  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2016 be 
confirmed. 
 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

3.  Communications Update  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To update the Committee on communications in respect of the City of Lincoln 
Council/North Kesteven District Council Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 
Decision 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Members had requested that they be updated regularly on joint communications 
undertaken in respect of the shared service and so were updated on topics 
including: 
 

 Partnership working with Citizens Advice; 

 Digital Inclusion rollout; 

 Educational Courses project with Lincoln College; 

 Press releases that had recently been in the media regarding Council Tax.   
 
The report was therefore noted.  
 

4.  Performance Update  
 

Purpose of Report 
 
To provide members with an update on performance in the shared service. 
 
Decision 
 

1. That the performance information be noted. 
3

Item No. 1



 
2. That a further performance update be presented at the meeting of Shared 

Revenues and Benefits on 6 September 2016. It was agreed this meeting 
would include the changes to the measures being reported for 2016/17. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
In order to ensure effective oversight of the performance of the shared service, 
members were provided with regular updates on performance in key areas of the 
service, including: 
 

 Council Tax collections; 

 Business Rates collections; 

 Outstanding Revenues correspondence in the Document Management 
System; 

 Housing Benefit overpayments; 

 the collection of prior year arrears; 

 benefits performance. 
 
In addition to the performance measures provided within the report, the Head of 
the Shared Revenues and Benefits Service provided verbal updates regarding 
the latest performance information. Members therefore noted both positive and 
negative changes in performance, and any actions taken by officers to ameliorate 
relevant issues. 
 

5.  Revenues and Benefits - Financial Outturn 2015-16  
 

Purpose of Report 
  
To present to members the final performance and the forecast financial outturn in 
respect of the shared service for 2015/16.  
  
Decision 
  

1. That the actual position at the end of 2015/16 be noted. 
 

2. That the budget adjustments for 2016/17 be approved as set out in 
paragraph 5.2 to the report provided, subject to the inclusion of an 
additional £47,461 in New Burdens funding across the shared service. 

  
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
  
None. 
  
Reason for Decision 
  
The forecast outturn for 2015/16 predicted an underspend against the approved 
budget of £3,086 which was a variance of 0.1% of the revised budget. The 
previously approved budget for 2015/16 was based on revenue savings of 
£475,270 per annum following the implementation of the new staffing restructure 
on 1 February 2012 being realised across both councils.  

4



 
A contingency budget of £50,000 had been included within Revenues and 
Benefits Management costs to cover unforeseen events and potential increased 
demands. In addition, a further amount of new burdens funding had been 
provided by the Department for Work and Pensions in relation to the provision of 
support for fraud investigations and welfare reform changes and so was also 
incorporated within the budget. 
  
  
 

6.  Discretionary Housing Payments and Welfare Reform Update  
 

Purpose of Report 
  
To update on Discretionary Housing Payments expenditure and any impacts from 
changes to procedures, Universal Credit preparation, and progress with the 
shared service’s Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan. 
  
Decision 
  

1. That the position in relation to Discretionary Housing Payment expenditure 
as well as the government grant figures for Discretionary Housing 
Payments in 2016/17 be noted. 

 
2. That the Department for Work and Pension’s Universal Credit progress be 

noted for the shared service. 
 

3. That progress with the Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan be noted. 
  
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
  
None. 
  
Reason for Decision 
  
Demand against 2015/16 Discretionary Housing Payment grants remained high, 
particularly for the City of Lincoln Council with all the government grant having 
been utilised. The introduction of ‘conditionality’ in respect of Discretionary 
Housing Payments had not adversely affected customers. 
  
There had been notification of 52 Council Tax support claims between 30 
November 2015 and 1 May 2016 in relation to Universal Credit. Members noted 
that the impact to date had been low in terms of numbers and changes to 
processes. 
 
Members were informed that there had been no further update in relation to the 
no TUPE arrangements and therefore the associated impacts could not be 
measured at this time. Members would be provided further detail regarding the 
timeline and Universal Credit rollout as this became available. 
  
Members therefore considered and noted the report provided, which had been 
provided for their information. 
 

7.  Business Rates Agreement with West Lindsey District Council  
 

5



Purpose of Report 
 
To update Joint Committee with regard to a new agreement for our shared 
service to deliver Business Rates administration for West Lindsey District 
Council. 
 
Decision 
 

1. That members note the 5-year agreement for the Shared Service to 
administer Business Rates for West Lindsey District Council. 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At the 24 November 2015 meeting of the Shared Revenues and Benefits 
Committee it was agreed to formally transfer the administration of Business Rates 
on behalf of West Lindsey to the City of Lincoln Council as host of the shared 
service.  
 
West Lindsey expressed a desire for a longer-term agreement. Following 
discussion from officers of all three authorities a five year period from the 1 April 
2016 to 31 March 2021 had been agreed at a fixed cost per annum. 
 

6



Shared Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee – 6th September 2016: 
Summary of reports. 

 
 
Communications Update: 

 Updates on: 
o Digital Inclusion; 
o Educational Courses project with Lincoln College 
o North Hykeham Infolinks. 

 
Performance Update: 

 Details Performance up to the end of July 2016: 
o Council Tax:  City of Lincoln down by 0.35%, North Kesteven 

down by 0.08%; 
o Business Rates::  City of Lincoln 0.45% down, North Kesteven 

0.55% down, West Lindsey 3.84% down; 
o Outstanding levels of Revenues customer correspondence and 

e-mails much improved and being maintained; 
o Housing Benefits Overpayments:  Rising level of outstanding 

debt, increased amounts of overpayments being raised; 
o Benefits – outstanding customers figure improving, Lincoln New 

Claims average processing time has slipped – an improvement 
action plan is in place. 

 
Quarter 1 2016/17 Financial Monitoring: 

 At quarter 1, there is an overspend against the approved budget of 
£8,914. 

 The forecast outturn for 2016/17 predicts that there will be an 
underspend against the approved budget of £1,553. 

 Budget increased by £100,161 through further New Burdens / grants. 
 
Annual Report 2015/16: 

 Provide Members with the third Revenues and Benefits shared service 
Annual Report, for 2015/16. 

 Summarises key challenges, successes and initiatives in an Annual 
Report document, which can be circulated internally amongst 
Revenues and Benefits colleagues, also to other internal and external 
stakeholders – to help promote understanding of the work taking place 
in our shared service. 

 
Welfare Reform Update: 

 Provides Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) spend up to the end 
of July 2016; 

 Updates on Universal Credit rollout, including a change to the overall 
timetable; 

 Provides information regarding the reduced Benefit Cap being 
introduced from 7th November 2016, with potential impacts; 

 Updates on the high level Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan. 
 

7

Item No. 3



Internal Audit Report – Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support: 

 Informs this committee of a recent audit carried out by Audit 
Lincolnshire with regard to payment of Housing Benefit and Council 
Tax Support by our shared service, which received ‘Substantial 
Assurance’. 

 Updates on progress against the associated action plan. 
 
Revenues and Benefits ICT Contract: 

 5-year existing Northgate contract ends 31st December 2016; 

 The report sets out proposals for the future procurement of the ICT 
contract, details of which are available within the provided report. 

 
Shared Service as an Agency: 

 A discussion paper on the potential for the Revenues and Benefits 
Shared Service to operate as an agency; 

 Proposes not taking forward this approach at this time due to a number 
of risks identified in the report, but look to review this matter in 12-18 
months; 

 Officers continue to seek other partnership opportunities to further 
progress the service. 

 
Review of Shared Service: 

 Proposes options to effectively deliver the Revenues and Benefits 
shared service going forward, with a view to making efficiencies and 
savings where appropriate; 

 Sets out a number of proposed changes to staffing arrangements for 
consideration, also an indicative Management of Change timeline. 

 
 

8



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 

To update Joint Committee on communications in respect of the City of Lincoln 
Council/North Kesteven District Council Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 This report updates on key items of communications within the shared service: 

 Digital Inclusion; 

 Educational Courses project with Lincoln College 

 North Hykeham Infolinks. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

This is a report with regard to communications in the shared service, which is a 
standing agenda item at this committee. 
 

3.2 Key items of communication to report on at this meeting, are: 
  Digital Inclusion: 

Our shared service is committed to increasing free digital provision and training 
throughout City of Lincoln and North Kesteven.  As a follow-up to the ‘IT Taster 
Day’ which took place at Navenby Local Access Point in April this year, further 
events took place at NKDC Offices, Sleaford during August.  Our lead officer on 
improving Digital Inclusion services has been extremely proactive at speaking to 
Parish Clerks, Local Access Points and Infolinks in North Kesteven – a verbal 
update on progress will be presented on 6th September. 
 
Volunteer and work experience ‘Digital Champions’ are a key part of ensuring that 
not only are free IT facilities available but also that personal support is available 
where customers need this.  This also has a dual positive outcome in that the 
person delivering the digital support is also increasing their own skills and 
employment opportunities.  This link is a press release from July, outlining how 
this initiative works in City Hall, Lincoln:  https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-
council/news-and-media/latest-news/digital-champions-on-hand-to-help-people-
get-online/ . 
 

 Educational Courses project with Lincoln College 
Members will recall that a project is underway utilising funding from Lincolnshire 
County Council’s Health and Wellbeing Fund, to provide 600 learners with access 
to free educational courses through Lincoln College over a four year period.  The 
project started in September 2015, being led by the Head of Shared Revenues 

9

Item No. 4

https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/digital-champions-on-hand-to-help-people-get-online/
https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/digital-champions-on-hand-to-help-people-get-online/
https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/digital-champions-on-hand-to-help-people-get-online/


and Benefits.  Although the funding bid (for £98,000) was through City of Lincoln 
Council, access to the courses is not ‘postcode dependant’, so North Kesteven 
residents could also benefit from this project. 
 
To qualify for course funding, an applicant must meet three of the following five 
criteria: 

 Income between £12,000 and £22,000 per annum; 
 Unemployed, looking for work and available to start work; 
 Looking for progression; 
 Cannot obtain funding for the course elsewhere; 
 Any Special Circumstances (needs to be supported by a written statement). 

 
Up to the end of Quarter 1 2016/17, 160 enrolments to courses had been 
undertaken.  Students’ employment status at the start of their course, were:   

 Full Time Employed:  26 

 Part Time Employed:  20 

 Voluntary Work:  2 

 Unemployed:  112. 
 

Outcomes from those who have completed their course so far, are: 

 Learners who have increased wage:  8 

 Learners who were unemployed and have moved into employment:  20  

 Achievement Rate:  95% 

 Withdrawn:  8. 
 

It is expected the success measures will improve further over Quarter 2 2016/17, 
as a number of learners who had only recently finished their courses are due to 
enter the ‘tracking period’ to determine what impact the course had on their 
employment.  Also, a specific project in which Jobcentre Plus are also involved, 
where an initial 13 learners took part, should also realise successes in Quarters 2 
and 3. 
 
Individual case studies are being collated, with a link to one such press release 
here:  https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/free-
course-helps-lincoln-jobseekers-find-work/ .  Lincoln City Radio also picked up on 
this press release, and the Head of Shared Revenues and Benefits and the project 
lead from Lincoln College took part in an interview for radio on 22nd June.   
 

 North Hykeham Infolinks 
North Hykeham Leisure Centre re-opened on 1st July, following extensive 
refurbishment.  Link to press article here:  http://thelincolnite.co.uk/2016/07/north-
kesteven-sports-centre-rebranded-following-3-6m-makeover/ .  As part of the 
newly-opened centre, our Benefits Service has relocated into the building as part 
of ‘Infolinks’ and deliver a provision for customer there 4 days a week (Monday, 
Tuesday, Thursday and Friday).  Our Benefits Service currently operates two 
service desks at Infolinks and a private interview room is available as and when 
required.  Although this facility is largely used by North Kesteven customers, City 
of Lincoln customers do occasionally use this facility when it is more convenient 
for them to drop in at North Hykeham rather than come into the city centre.  This 
provision helps to improve the availability of our Benefits face-to-face service and 
helps to achieve one of our shared services’ aims from the outset of improving 
customer service. 

10

https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/free-course-helps-lincoln-jobseekers-find-work/
https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/your-council/news-and-media/latest-news/free-course-helps-lincoln-jobseekers-find-work/
http://thelincolnite.co.uk/2016/07/north-kesteven-sports-centre-rebranded-following-3-6m-makeover/
http://thelincolnite.co.uk/2016/07/north-kesteven-sports-centre-rebranded-following-3-6m-makeover/


 

4. Strategic Priorities 
 

4.1 Growing the local economy:  The Educational Courses project with Lincoln College 
increases employment opportunities for residents.  
 

4.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 
Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice.  Digital Inclusion, Channel Shift, Financial Inclusion and Partnership 
Working are key priorities for the shared service. 
 

5. Organisational Impacts 
 

5.1 Finance:  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 

5.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

5.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights:  There are no direct Equality, Diversity or 
Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

6. Risk Implications 
 

6.1 A Risk Register is in place for the Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 

7. Recommendation  
 

7.1 
 

Members note this report. 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

None 

 

11



This page is intentionally blank.



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE  6 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report  
 

1.1 
 

To provide Members with an update on performance in the Revenues and Benefits 
shared service. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 This report provides an update on Revenues and Benefits performance 
information up to the end of July 2016. 

 
3. 

 
Background 
 

3.1 
 

At the 24th May meeting of this committee, a report was presented detailing 
Revenues and Benefits performance up to the end of April 2016. 
 

3.2 Performance is reported to this committee on a quarterly basis. 
 

4. Revenues Performance 
 

4.1 Council Tax 
 

4.2 As at the end of July 2016, in-year collections compared to the same point in 
2015/16 are slightly down – by 0.35% (Lincoln) and 0.08% (North Kesteven).  
Although not the desired position, it is still relatively early in the financial year.  All 
processes and recovery actions are in place, and there is no reason at this stage 
to flag that there is an issue with in-year collection. 
 

4.3 Business Rates 
 

4.4 Compared to the same point in 2015/16, as at the end July 2016 in-year Business 
Rates collection performance is as follows: 

 City of Lincoln 0.45% down; 

 North Kesteven 0.55% down; 

 West Lindsey 3.84% down. 
 

4.5 Although there are no specific concerns regarding Lincoln and North Kesteven’s 
in-year collection at this relatively early stage in the financial year, work is being 
undertaken to ascertain why the West Lindsey collection is lower than would be 
expected. 
 

13

Item No. 5



4.6 Outstanding Revenues Customers 
 

4.7 It is pleasing to report that this figure of 245 at the end of July 2016 is significantly 
lower than that at the end of July 2015 (960).  In addition to this, the outstanding e-
mails position as previously notified to this committee has reduced considerably.  
As at the time of writing this report (25th August) 51 e-mails are awaiting to be dealt 
with (the oldest being received 23rd August) – compared to 509 e-mails 
outstanding on 13th May (as reported to this committee on 24th May). 
 

4.8 The much improved position is as a direct result of changes in processes with the 
introduction of new electronic/self-serve forms, as well as some temporary 
additional agency resources on the team.  The challenge now is to further improve 
processes and maintain the work position with the resources available on the 
team. 
 

4.9 Prior Year Arrears for Council Tax and Business Rates 
 

4.10 It is pleasing to report that prior year arrears for Council Tax and Business Rates 
have reduced month-on-month, with focus being on recovering these monies as 
well as in-year collection. 
 

4.11 Housing Benefit Overpayments 
 

4.12 As at the end of July, in-period collection stands at 68.54% for City of Lincoln and 
65.19% for North Kesteven – which is a reduction in performance for both 
authorities.  Effective collection and recovery arrangements are in place with a 
wide range of techniques being utilised, however officers have identified there has 
been a significant increase in the amount of overpayments being raised – as 
highlighted in the table below. 
 

 £ raised 
1.4.16-
31.7.16 

£ raised 
1.4.15-
31.7.15 

Increase in £ 
raised (and 
% increase) 
 

City of 
Lincoln 
 

£573,589 £497,983 £75,606 
(13.2%) 

 

North 
Kesteven 
 

£375,440 £246,803 £128,637 
(34.3%) 

 
There are various reasons for the increases in the amount of overpayments being 
raised, such as: 

 ‘FERIS’ (Fraud and Error Reduction Incentive Scheme) work being carried 
out – reviewing cases proactively to identify changes in customers’ 
circumstances); 

 Increase in cases from the Single Fraud Investigations Service; 

 RTI (Real Time Information) scan data identifying changes in circumstances 
often going back several months/years. 

  
4.13 As an ongoing consequence of more overpayments being raised in period than the 

amount it is realistically possible to collect in-period, outstanding debt continues to 

14



rise – as at the end of July 2016 £3,675,012 and £1,612,198 is outstanding for City 
of Lincoln and North Kesteven respectively, - increases of £164,214 and £129,927 
since 31st March 2016.   
 

4.14 Members will recall a detailed report on Housing Benefit overpayments was 
submitted to this committee in February this year, identifying the key reason for 
debts being raised being due to late notification from customers regarding 
changes of circumstance affecting the level of Housing Benefit entitlement.  
Officers will continue to proactively communicate the need for changes to be 
reported promptly, as well as managing performance in this very challenging area 
of debt recovery. 
 

5. Benefits Performance 
 
5.1 

 
Generally North Kesteven Benefits work continues to perform well in terms of 
outstanding work and average processing times.  However, City of Lincoln 
Benefits performance has generally deteriorated over the last quarter – in 
particular in respect of new claims. 

 
5.2 

 
Allocation of resources between Lincoln and North Kesteven Benefits work is 
continuously under review, to ensure the balance is equitable.  However, there 
have been some particular issues with the Lincoln part of the Benefits Service in 
relation to staff sickness, work demands and Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHP).  An action plan has been developed to tackle these issues and is in 
operation.    DHP applications have now been cleared meaning resources have 
been re-diverted back to ‘core assessment work’.  Also, some changes to 
processes have been implemented.  It is pleasing to report that as at the time of 
writing this report (25th August) outstanding work for Lincoln has reduced to 1,063 
(compared to 1,169 at the end of July) – which taking into account higher than 
average levels of officer annual leave in August, is a positive step in the right 
direction.  The oldest item of Lincoln Benefits work is dated 18th July (compared to 
1st August, when the oldest item outstanding was dated 7th June).  This does not 
mean that no Benefits claim since 18th July has been processed – as where a 
customer accesses the service and provides all information at the first point of 
contact these may be processed much sooner. 

 
5.3 

 
It should be noted that it is not anticipated that the average processing time for 
Lincoln New Claims will improve quickly, in fact the processing of older work that 
has been taking place may have an initial detrimental effect – but longer-term as 
2016/17 progresses it is expected this will improve.  A verbal update on progress 
will be provided on 6th September. 

 
6. 

 
Strategic Priorities 
 

6.1 Growing the local economy:  Granting of Business Rates reliefs as appropriate can 
assist businesses to succeed and grow.  
 

6.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 
Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice. 
 

15



7. Organisational Impacts 
 

7.1 Finance:  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

7.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

7.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights:  There are no direct implications arising from 
this report. 
 

8. Risk Implications 
 

8.1 A Risk Register is in place for the Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 

9. Recommendations  
 

9.1 
 

Note the performance information as set out in this report. 

9.2 Note that a performance update will be presented at the next meeting of this 
committee, on 22nd November 2016.   
 
 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

Appendix 1:  Performance Data to end July 2016 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and 
Benefits 

Telephone (01522) 873597 
 

16



 

6th September 2016 Joint Committee 
Appendix 1 –Revenues and Benefits Performance Data to end July 2016 
 
Measure 2015/16 Outturn Quarter 1 2016/17 To end July 2016 

Local 
Authority 

NK COL NK COL 
 

NK COL 

Council Tax 
collection 
(cumulative) 
 

99.16% 
 
 
 

97.12% 
 
 

30.13% 
 

Q1 2015/16 30.12% 

26.93% 
 

Q1 2015/16 27.14% 

39.47% 
 

End July 2015 39.55% 
 

35.49% 
 

End July 2015 35.84% 
 

NNDR 
collection 
(cumulative) 
 

99.46% 
 
 
 

99.78% 
 
 

26.93% 
 

Q1 2015/16 27.14% 

26.93% 
 

Q1 2015/16 27.14% 

35.49% 
 

End July 2015 35.84% 
 

35.49% 
 

End July 2015 35.84% 
 

NNDR 
collection – 
WLDC 
(cumulative) 
 

99.44% 
 
 
 

34.42% 
 

Q1 2015/16 37.24% 

42.68% 
 

End July 2015 46.52% 
 

No. Revenues 
customers 
awaiting 
change to be 
processed 
 

266 
 
 

448 
 
 

306 
 

Q1 2015/16 255 
 
 

443 
 

Q1 2015/16 623 
 
 

106 
 

End July 2015 307 
 
 

139 
 

End July 2015 653 
 
 

Total Net 
Arrears for 
Council Tax 
prior years 
(i.e. not 
including 
current year 
2014/15) 
 

£661,002  
 
 

£1,835,111 
 
 

£1,122,214 £2,831,580 £1,078,392 
 
 

£2,738,254 
 
 

17



Measure 2015/16 Outturn Quarter 1 2016/17 To end July 2016 

Local 
Authority 

NK COL NK COL 
 

NK COL 

Total Net 
Arrears for 
NNDR prior 
years (i.e. not 
including 
current year 
2014/15) 
 

£246,374 
 
 

£273,118 
 
 

£488,734 £512,998 £456,107 £483,747 

Housing 
Benefit 
overpayments 
collection in 
period 
 

77.76% 
 
 

75.22%  
 
 

69.60% 
 

Q1 2015/16 86.77% 

70.73% 
 

Q1 2015/16 79.70% 

65.19% 
 

End July 2015 92.68% 
 

68.54% 
 

End July 2015 77.84% 
 
 

Outstanding 
Housing 
Benefit 
overpayments 
debt 
 

£1,482,271 
 
 

£3,510,798 
 
 

£1,552,617 
 

Q1 2015/16 £1,335,821 

£3,622,043 
 

Q1 2015/16 £3,229,196 

£1,612,198 
 

End July 2015 
£1,331,176 

 
 

£3,675,012 
 

End July 2015 
£3,259,047 

 
 

Housing 
Benefit New 
Claims:  
Average 
number of 
days to 
process 
(cumulative) 
 

12.76 days 
 
 
 
 

25.45 days  
 
 
 

13.91 days 
 

Q1 2015/16 11.27 days 

29.62 days 
 

Q1 2015/16 22.23 days 

11.90 days  
 

End July 2015 12.20 
days 

 

29.91 days  
 

End July 2015 21.95 
days 

 

% HB New 
Claims that 
took over 50 
days to 
process 
(cumulative) 

N/A – new 
measure for 

2016/17 
 
 
 

N/A – new 
measure for 

2016/17 
 
 
 

5.6% 16% 3% 25.86% 

18



Measure 2015/16 Outturn Quarter 1 2016/17 To end July 2016 

Local 
Authority 

NK COL NK COL 
 

NK COL 

 

Housing 
Benefits 
Changes of 
Circumstance
s:  Average 
number of 
days to 
process 
(cumulative) 
 

2.84 days 
 
 
 

5.40 days 
 
 

3.35 days 
 

Q1 2015/16 6.01 days 

7.80 days 
 

Q1 2015/16 13.54 days 

4.10 days 
 

End July 2015 4.24 days 

9.03 days 
 

End July 2015 5.60 days. 
days  

% HB 
Changes that 
took over 20 
days to 
process 
(cumulative) 
 

N/A – new 
measure for 

2016/17 
 
 
 

N/A – new 
measure for 

2016/17 
 
 
 

6.92% 11.22% 6.38% 
 

17.08% 
 

No. Benefits 
customers 
awaiting 
assessment 
(cumulative) 
 

714 
 
 
 

1,064 
 
 

678 
 

Q1 2015/16 428 

1,200 
 

Q1 2015/16 778 

652 
 

End July 2015 516 
 

1,169 
 

End July 2015 887 
 

% Benefits 
claims 
checked 
financially 
correct 
(cumulative) 
 

97.40% 
 
 

82.81% 
 
 

95.39% 
 

Q1 2015/16 97.50% 

No specific checks 
undertaken due to 

resources utilised on 
another competing 

priorities 
 

Q1 2015/16 62.50% 

96.43% 
 

End July 2015 97.83%  
 

No specific checks 
undertaken due to 

resources utilised on 
another competing 

priorities 
 

End July 2015 62.50% 
 

Benefits – 
Customer 
satisfaction 

99.29% 
 
 

98.51% 
 
 

99.62% 
 

Q1 2015/16 99.83% 

96.66% 
 

Q1 2015/16 98.80% 

98.33% 
 

End July 2015 99.73% 

98.33% 
 

End July 2015 98.80% 

19



Measure 2015/16 Outturn Quarter 1 2016/17 To end July 2016 

Local 
Authority 

NK COL NK COL 
 

NK COL 

(cumulative) 
 

 

20



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

QUARTER 1 2016/17 FINANCIAL MONITORING 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To present to Members the first quarter’s performance for the Revenues and 

Benefits shared service for 2016/17.   
 

2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 The forecast outturn for 2016/17 predicts that there will be an underspend against 
the approved budget of £1,553. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 The approved budget for 2016/17 contains a contingency budget of £20,000 
within Revenues and Benefits Management costs to cover unforeseen events.  
 

3.2 The budget has subsequently been revised for the following items: 
 

Budget adjustment CoLC NK Total 

 £ £ £ 

RTI  2,821 1,541 4,362 

Ferris 22,793 12,437 35,230 

Pension Credit Assessed Income 
Period Reform  

692 666 1,358 

Local Authority Data Sharing (LADS) 
Funding 

12,389 12,389 24,778 

Benefit Cap Changes 25,397 9,036 34,433 

    

TOTAL 64,092 36,069 100,161 

 
 

4. Quarter 1 Financial Performance and Forecast Outturn 2016/17 
 

4.1 Performance Quarter 1 
Financial performance for the first quarter of 2016/17 is detailed in Appendix 1 to 
this report. At quarter 1, there is an overspend against the approved budget of 
£8,914. 
 

4.2 Forecast Outturn 2016/17  
A contingency budget of £20,000 is included within Revenues and Benefits 
Management costs to cover unforeseen events. The forecast outturn for 2016/17 
predicts that there will be an underspend against the approved budget of £1,553. 

21

Item No. 6



Further detail is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. 
 

4.3 A summary of the main forecast year-end variations against the approved budget 
for 2016/17 is shown below. 
 

 

Service Area 
 

£ Reason for variance 

Revenues and Benefits Management 
Contingency Budget (20,000) Retained budget of £20,000 in 2016/17 

and then maintained at £20,000 per year 
thereafter, which has been set aside to 
fund any service pressures, interim 
support and unforeseen circumstances. 
This underspend is offset against 
additional resource costs identified below. 
 

Staffing 15,650 Includes regraded staff 
 

   
Benefits 
Staffing (84,250) Career graded posts not progressing as 

budgeted 
 

Subscriptions 15,000 Various subscriptions not budgeted for. 
 

Postage 
 

(34,250) Forecast under spend, based on 2015/16 

IT Costs 15,000 In line with 2015/16, however this is 
subject to review as the year progresses. 
 

Office Equipment 
 

4,000 Potential to change depending on needs 
of the service as the year progresses 
 

Printing 12,590 Dependent on activity throughout the 
year, however this is the average cost 
over the last two financial years 

Revenues Local Taxation 
Postage 11,800 Forecast in line with 2015/16 

   
Agency 17,000 To meet the needs of the service short 

term agency cover has been brought in. 
 

IT Costs 13,550 To meet service requirements.  
 

Collection/Tracing Agents 12,700 Forecast based on previous years activity 
 

Printing (13,000) Forecast under spend based on 2015/16. 
 

Staffing 18,690 Additional resources to meet work 
demands 

   

22



Service Area 
 

£ Reason for variance 

Benefits/Money Advice   
Mobile Phones/Lone Working 
devices 

2,100 Budgets needs to be reviewed as part of 
the next budget round. 

Staffing (7,080) Reduced hours in the service 
   

 

5. Strategic Priorities 
 

5.1 Growing the local economy:  Granting of Business Rates reliefs as appropriate can 
assist businesses to succeed and grow.  
 

5.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 
Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice.   

 
6. 
 
6.1 

 
Organisational Impacts 
 
Finance:  The financial implications are contained throughout the report.  
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

6.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights:  There are no direct Equality, Diversity or 
Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 A full financial risk assessment is included in the Council’s Medium Financial 
Strategy. 
 

8. Recommendations  
 

8.1 Members are recommended to note the actual position at quarter 1. 
 

8.2 Members are recommended to approve the budget adjustments for 2016/17 as 
per para 3.2. 
 

  
Key Decision 
 

No 
 

Do the Exempt 
Information Categories 
Apply? 
 

No 
 

Call in and Urgency: Is the 
decision one to which Rule 
15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

No 

23



How many appendices 
does the report contain? 
 
 

 
Two 

List of Background 
Papers: 
 

None 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and Benefits 
Telephone (01522) 873597 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24



 
Appendix 1 Actual Position as at Quarter 1 2016/17 
 
 
            

 Profiled Budget  Actual  Variance 

 CoLC NK Combined  CoLC NK Combined  CoLC NK Combined 

            
Revenues & Benefits 
Management 

53,810 53,810 107,623  46,221 46,221 92,442  (7,589) (7,589) (15,178) 

Benefits 172,760 120,810 293,576  153,974 111,498 265,472  (18,786) (9,312) (28,098) 

Revenues Local Taxation 94,740 98,450 193,195  113,724 118,365 232,089  18,984 19,915 38,899 

Money Advice 27,030 27,030 54,063  29,478 29,478 58,957  2,448 2,448 4,897 

            

Admin Grant Reduction (5,433) (2,963) (8,395)  0 0 0  5,433 2,963 8,395 

            

Total Q1 2016/17 342,908 297,138 640,061  343,396 305,563 648,959  489 8,425 8,914 

            

            

            

            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25



 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 2 Forecast Financial Outturn for 2016/17 
 
            

            

 Annual Budget  Forecast Outturn  Variance 

 CoLC NK Combined  CoLC NK Combined  CoLC NK Combined 

            
Revenues & Benefits 
Management 

176,425 176,425 352,850  160,100 160,100 320,200  (16,325) (16,325) (32,650) 

Benefits 694,482 485,662 1,180,144  655,578 458,456 1,114,033  (38,904) (27,206) (66,110) 

Revenues Local Taxation 310,829 322,999 633,827  344,268 357,747 702,014  33,439 34,748 68,187 

Money Advice 108,125 108,125 216,250  105,845 105,845 211,690  (2,280) (2,280) (4,560) 

            

Admin Grant Reduction (21,730) (11,850) (33,580)  0 0 0  21,730 11,850 33,580 

            

Total 2016/17 1,268,130 1,081,360 2,349,491  1,265,790 1,082,147 2,347,938  (2,340) 787 (1,553) 

            

            

            

            

            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE  6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 

To provide Members with the third Revenues and Benefits shared service Annual 
Report, for 2015/16. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 Appendix 1 to this report is the Revenues and Benefits shared service Annual 
Report, for 2015/16. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

Officers believe it is useful to summarise key challenges, successes and initiatives 
in an Annual Report document, which can be circulated internally amongst 
Revenues and Benefits colleagues but also to other internal and external 
stakeholders – to help promote understanding of the work taking place in our 
shared service. 
 

3.2 Appendix 1 contains the shared service’s Annual Report for 2015/16. 
 

4. Strategic Priorities 
 

4.1 Growing the local economy:  Granting of Business Rates reliefs as appropriate can 
assist businesses to succeed and grow.  
 

4.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln:  The Benefits Service has a key role in 
reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring residents receive the benefits 
they are entitled to and providing money/debt advice.  Digital Inclusion, Channel 
Shift, Financial Inclusion and Partnership Working are key priorities for the shared 
service. 

 
5. 

 
Organisational Impacts 
 

5.1 Finance:  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

5.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

5.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights:  There are no direct Equality, Diversity or 
Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

27

Item No. 7



6. Risk Implications 
 

6.1 A Risk Register is in place for the Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 

7. Recommendation  
 

7.1 
 

Members note the production of the 2015/16 Annual Report, and make 
representations as to how the document could be utilised and perhaps further 
expanded for future years. 
 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

One 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and 
Benefits 

Telephone (01522) 873597 
 

28



Annual report 2015-16

Revenues and Benefits  
Shared Service

North Kesteven District Council

29



REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16  Page 2

The purpose of the Shared Revenues and Benefits Committee includes:
1. To approve and monitor the Shared Revenues and Benefits Service Delivery Plan for each Financial 

Year.
2. To approve the annual budget for the Joint Committee and the Shared Revenues and Benefits.
3. To approve the annual report of the Joint Committee and the Shared Revenues and Benefits.
4. To monitor expenditure and income of the Joint Committee and Shared Revenues and Benefits 

Service against the agreed annual budget.
5. To set progress and performance targets for the functions delegated to the shared service, 

approve the delivery plan for the performance of such functions and monitor and review the 
performance of such functions against such targets and delivery plan.

Foreword

The shared service has now been running for more 
than five years, after forming on 1 June 2011. 

 The first couple of years were, understandably, 
a period of enormous change (in terms of teams, 
staffing structure, ICT systems, processes etc) – 
however, it is clear when reflecting on performance 
outcomes over the last five years and the current 
excellent performance in most areas, that the shared 
service has now ‘settled’ (or as much as Revenues 
and Benefits can ever settle in a service which has 
such frequently changing legislation) and is really 
flourishing. 

 This is despite the uncertainty in terms of full 
Business Rates retention and impacts of national 
welfare reforms – not least of which is Universal 
Credit.

It is really pleasing to see that in-year collections of 
Business Rates and Council Tax continue to impress, 
while the service also has a key focus on reducing 
hardship to customers where it can. 

The team has responded extremely proactively 
in terms of improving digital facilities and financial 
advice throughout the districts, as well as putting 
processes in place to enhance our citizens’ 
employment opportunities. 

The next five years promises even more change for 
the service in terms of responding to the national 
and local agendas, however I firmly believe the team 
is extremely well placed to tackle these challenges in 
a positive and innovative manner.

Committee purpose

Councillor Donald Nannestad

Chair of the Revenues and Benefits  
Joint Committee

30



The Revenues and Benefits Shared Service 
delivers Revenues and Benefits functions for City 
of Lincoln Council and North Kesteven District 
Council.  

This includes;  
•	 Collection of Council Tax
•	 Collection of Business Rates (also collecting 

for West Lindsey District Council)
•	 Processing of Housing Benefit / Council Tax 

Support claims
•	 Processing of Discretionary Housing 

Payment applications

•	 Collection of City of Lincoln Business 
Improvement District levy

•	 Welfare/Benefits/Money advice
•	 Recovery of Housing Benefit overpayments
•	 Recovery of other incomes (currently only 

for City of Lincoln – former tenant arrears, 
sundry debtors)

•	 Benefit appeals
The shared service has a combined live Housing 

Benefit/Council Tax Support caseload of almost 
20,000, and bills more than 90,000 domestic and 
9,000 commercial properties.

Page 3  REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16

Key successes

About the service

P
P
P
P
P

P
P

P

Continued high standards of performance - Business Rates collection for Lincoln, North 
Kesteven and West Lindsey were nationally the 3rd, 20th and 21st best in the country, 
respectively

Review of Discretionary Housing Payments Policy to help those most in need with their housing 
costs

Key role in Anti-Poverty Agenda - including a hugely successful project with Lincoln College, 
funded through Lincolnshire County Council, to give low income households access to free 
educational courses to enhance their employment opportunities

Key role in Digital Inclusion agenda throughout Lincoln and North Kesteven, with 
increased self-serve ICT facilities and ‘Digital Champions’ through voluntary or work experience 
schemes

Key role in reducing Fraud and Error - through projects such as Single Person Discount exercise 
and countywide ‘Tell Us’ campaign

Continuing to achieve savings for both partner local authorities

First-phase Universal Credit support delivered in partnership with Department for Work and 
Pensions, and West Lindsey District Council

Agreement to five-year arrangement to administer Business Rates for West Lindsey District 
Council

31



REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16  Page 4

Performance

2015/16 - Benefits

2015/16 - Revenues

2015/16 2014/15

Council Tax in year  
collection

City of Lincoln Council

North Kesteven District 
Council

Business rates in year 
collection

City of Lincoln Council

North Kesteven District 
Council

West Lindsey District 
Council

97.12%

99.16%

99.78%

99.46%

99.44%

96.93%

99.25%

99.46%

99.78%

99.17%

North  
Kesteven  
District  
Council

City of  
Lincoln  
Council

Average no.  
days - new 
claims

Average no. days 
-  changes of  
circumstances

Customer  
satisfaction

Customers - 
work  
outstanding

12.76 days

2014/15 
12.05 days

2.84 days

2014/15  
2.91 days

99.29%

2014/15
99.67%

714

2014/15 
1,036

25.45 days

2014/15  
26.14 days

5.40 days

2014/15  
5.07 days

98.51%

2014/15
98.33%

1,064

2014/15 
1,267

32



Reviewing the business

Key activity Outcome/savings sought Timescale

Continue implementation 
of a strategy for the 
councils’ response to 
Universal Credit

Provide a clear and proactive response to the challenges 
presented to the service in relation to the national and 
local welfare reform agendas.

Rollout of increased and enhanced digital inclusion 
facilities throughout North Kesteven.

Through ‘Educational Courses’ project with Lincoln 
College, to assist in improving employment opportunities 
and household incomes.

Work with co-located Jobcentre Plus’ to improve customer 
experience and maximise opportunities for joint-working 
where possible and appropriate.

Provision of Personal Budgeting Support to those 
claiming Universal Credit.

Delivery of Digital Inclusion support to those claiming 
Universal Credit.

2016/17

September 2015 
- August 2019

2016/17

Page 5  REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16

The challenges ahead

33



REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16  Page 6

Other key strategic commitments to be driven forward in the coming year

Key activity Outcome sought Timescale

Business growth Increase in Business Rates taxbase - to work with Finance, 
Planning and Economic Development colleagues to improve 
business growth in both City of Lincoln and North Kesteven

2016/17

Anti-poverty To ensure the service helps to reduce poverty in the districts, 
working with other service areas to provide proactive 
responses to poverty-related issues

2016/17

Channel Shift:

Particular activities include: 
Correspondence, self-serve. 
online application form

Reduce officer time spent writing/checking correspondence/ 
reduce printing costs/increased use of e-initiatives

Implementation of upgraded Northgate E-Benefits product 
with increased functionality, for New Claims and Changes of 
Circumstance

To further develop e-enabled access channels with as much 
direct back office integration as possible, and to encourage 
customers to utilise these channels – while still providing 
other access options for customers who require these

Assistance in making required improvements to MyInfo 
self-service for Revenues and Benefits

Implementation of Northgate Landlord Manager/Portal 
solution

Reduce the number of cheque/cash payments received by 
the councils and reduce the number of cheques raised - i.e. 
promote electronic methods of payment

2016/17

Performance maintenance/
improvement – particularly 
around Council Tax and 
Business Rates in-year 
collection, and Benefits 
processing times and 
accuracy

Maintenance and/or improvement of current in-year 
collection levels.

Maximimisation of Council Tax and Business Rates taxbases.

Improvements in Benefits claim processing times and first-
time accurate assessments.

Proactive plan for collecting and reducing outstanding debt 
for Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Benefit.

2016/17

October 2016

34



Page 7 REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16

Responding to Welfare Reform

The summer budget on 8 July 2015 outlined 
a number of policies to reduce the national 

welfare budget by £12 billion. Following this 
the autumn budget was announced on 25 
November 2015 with a few amendments to the 
summer budget.

A number of these changes will have a significant 
impact on the residents of Lincoln and North 
Kesteven, and potentially pose some serious risks to 
both councils:
•	 National Minimum Wage rose by 20p  on 1 

October 2015 from £6.50 per hour to £6.70 per 
hour

•	 Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates have 
been until 2020/21 from April 2016 as well as 
applicable amounts for working age customers

•	 National Living Wage (additional) 50p from 
April 2016 to £7.20 per hour (for over 25 years 
old)

•	 Working Tax Credit in-year increase in 
income, this is the amount by which a tax 
credit claimant’s income can increase in-year 
compared to their previous year’s income 
before their award is adjusted (the income 
rise disregard) will be reduced from £5,000 to 
£2,500 from April 2016

•	 State Pension increase from April 2016 sees the 
state pension for existing pensioners will rise 
by 2.9%, or £3.35, to £119.30 a week from April, 
to match the rise in average earnings. Next 
year is a significant one for new retirees as it is 
the start, from April, of the new “flat-rate” state 
pension, set at £155 a week

•	 From April 2016 backdating reduced to one 
month for working age Housing Benefit 
claims in line with Universal Credit, pensioners 
remained at 3 month automatic award

•	 Reduced rents in social housing by 1% a year 
for 4 years beginning April 2016

•	 Personal Allowance Increase to £11,000 per 
annum from April 2016

•	 From April 2016 the removal of Assessed 
income period, meaning pension credit 
claimants now need to report all changes in 
circumstances as they occur. Pensioners over 
75 with an indefinite AIP are not affected

•	 Family Premium and Allowances to be 
withdrawn all HB and CTR for Pensioners from 
May 2016

•	 Reducing temporary absence payments period 
from 13 weeks to 4 weeks, with exceptions for 
persons going outside Great Britain from 28 
July 2016

•	 Benefit Cap to be lowered from £26,000 to 
£20,000 per year from 7 November 2016. Those 
who find a job will continue to be exempt 
from the household benefit cap, creating a 
clear incentive to move into work. Exemptions 
will continue to apply for the most vulnerable 
disabled people (likely to be similar to those 
applied in the previous cap) and all recipients 
of Carer’s Allowance or Guardian’s Allowance 
will be exempted from the benefit cap later this 
year

35



REVENUES AND BENEFITS SHARED SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16  Page 8

prepare for benefit changes

Universal Credit

Universal Credit is a new benefit for working age 
people that replaces a number of existing benefits 
and tax credits. It is designed to support people 
who have a low or no income with their basic living 
expenses and housing costs.

During 2015 Universal Credit had been and is 
continuing to be rolled out across the whole of Great 
Britain for new claims for single jobseekers in 2016. 
In some parts of the country claimants may qualify if 
they are part of a couple or have children. Full rollout 
is expected to be completed in 2022.

The amount claimants can get depends on their 
circumstances and how much other income they 
have. Claimants can continue to get Universal Credit 
if they are in work but have low earnings.

Universal Credit was introduced to Lincoln 
residents from 30 November 2015, but only for 
single people making a new claim for Jobseekers 
Allowance.

The full Universal Credit service is expected to be 
delivered nationally for all types of claimants from 
between May 2016 and 2019.

After the transition process has completed we will 
then begin migrating all remaining existing benefit 
claimants to the full Universal Credit service from 
July 2019 and to complete by March 2022.

Digital Champions

This year we have introduced ‘digital champions’ at 
City Hall. 

These volunteers help customers use the self-serve 
computers to access a range of services, including 
paying council tax, finding a job, applying for 
benefits and much more.

The scheme benefits both our customers and the 
volunteers, who gain valuable work experience and 
skills helping others.

We are looking to expand the volunteer scheme to 
make help available at the new self-serve PCs at the 
St Giles Neighbourhood Office.

36



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE  6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

WELFARE REFORM UPDATE 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 

To update Members on Discretionary Housing Payments expenditure, Universal 
Credit, Benefit Cap, and progress with our shared service’s Welfare Reform 
Strategy Action Plan. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 Demand for Discretionary Housing Payments remains high.  Allocated 2016/17 
expenditure to the end of July 2016 is £81,095 and £51,216 for Lincoln and North 
Kesteven, respectively. 
 

2.2 The impact of Universal Credit in Lincoln and North Kesteven remains relatively 
low, mainly due to the specific client group identified for this first phase.  However, 
a recent announcement by Department for Work and Pensions has set out a 
revised rollout schedule running to 2022 (rather than 2021) – and there is no 
specific date for Lincolnshire local authorities as yet. 
 

2.3 The usual update on progress with the high level action plan is provided at 
Appendix 1, as part of our shared service’s Welfare Reform Strategy, approved by 
respective Executive functions of City of Lincoln and North Kesteven in April 2015. 
 

3. Discretionary Housing Payments – Update 
 

3.1 
 

As at the end of July 2016, Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) expenditure is 
as shown in the table below. 
 

 DHP 
Government 
Grant 
2016/17 
 

£ 
expenditure 
at end July 
2016 

£ unallocated 
DHP (and %) 

City of 
Lincoln 

£173,675 (+ 
£26,709 
unallocated 
monies from 
general fund 
carried-
forward from 
2015/16) = 
£200,384 

£81,095 
(£39,609 paid 
to date, 
£41,486 
allocated) 

£119,289 
(59.53%) 

37

Item No. 8



 

North 
Kesteven 

£107,514 £51,216 
(£24,107 paid 
to date, 
£27,109 
allocated) 
 

£56,298 
(52.36%) 

 

 
3.2 

 
The new policy is working well in terms of criteria for DHP and as things stand 
officers believe funding for both authorities will be utilised during the year.  A 
backlog of outstanding applications has recently been cleared, following an influx 
of applications in the early part of 2016/17.  Also, increased demand from 
November 2016 when the reduced Benefit Cap is introduced will undoubtedly put 
additional pressure on this limited budget.  More information on the reduced 
Benefit Cap is given in Section 5 of this report. 

 
4. 

 
Universal Credit 
 

4.1 Members will be aware that the initial rollout of Universal Credit (UC) in City of 
Lincoln and North Kesteven started from 30th November 2015, to single customers 
who would have otherwise been making a claim for Jobseekers Allowance. 
 

4.2 As anticipated, impacts in our districts has remained relatively low.  The latest 
indicative statistics currently available from central government show that as at 9th 
June 2016, there were 422 people claiming Universal Credit in Lincoln, and 209 in 
North Kesteven.  
 

4.3 In a national context, as at 14th July there were 303,839 Universal Credit claimants 
– an increase from 225,002 households claiming UC as at 10th March – an 
increase of 78,837 over a 4-month period. 
 

4.4 On 21st July, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) wrote to local 
authority Chief Executives and Revenues/Benefits lead officers setting out a 
revised rollout timeline for Universal Credit.  The key points from this 
announcement, being: 
 

 The timetable of full working age UC rollout has been extended by a further 
year – to 2022; 
 

 UC will be more fully expanded into more Jobcentres – with specific 
Jobcentres being named up to the period March 2017, of which there were 
no Lincolnshire sites; 
 

 It is expected that the rest of the rollout schedule by region will be 
announced in time for local authorities’ 2017/18 budget-setting; 
 

 Taking on board comments made by the Public Accounts Committee and 
the need to ensure there is contingency within the rollout plan, the migration 
phase of existing recipients of legacy benefits (which would include Housing 
Benefit) should begin in July 2019 and complete in March 2022.  (This is a 
delay of one year from the last announcement on legacy benefit migration); 
 

38



 Where customers have more than two children, they may possibly remain in 
receipt of Housing Benefit and/or Tax Credits for an extended period (i.e. 
not be included in any further initial rollout of UC); 
 

 Incorporating Housing Benefit for pensioners in Pension Credit will not 
being until completion of the Universal Credit timetable. 

 
4.5 Although the rollout of UC remains a key risk in our shared service and provides 

ongoing uncertainty to some members of the team, this announcement does in 
effect mean that Housing Benefit is almost certain to be around until 2022 – and 
perhaps beyond.  The announcement regarding Housing Benefit for pensioners 
appears somewhat at odds with a current consultation underway which proposed 
that Housing Benefit costs for pensioners be part of the proposed revised 
Business Rates retention scheme.  All in all, it remains very much ‘watch this 
space’ – staff are aware of the announcement and will continue to be fully 
communicated with at all stages. 
 

4.6 In respect of the ‘no TUPE’ announcement made in December 2015, there has 
been no real update since then and the associated impacts cannot be fully 
determined until more detail is available regarding the specific timeline for future 
UC rollout – and specifically for Lincoln and North Kesteven. 
 

4.7 Work continues in terms of the Universal Support Delivered Locally (USDL) 
agenda, in terms of digital inclusion, personal budgeting support, employment-
related projects and partnership working. 
 

5. Reduced Benefit Cap 
 
5.1 

 
A reduced Benefit Cap is being introduced from 7th November 2016 – a report 
written by our shared service’s Welfare Reform lead officer is included as 
Appendix 2, giving more detail regarding the changes.  Essentially, this national 
change will further reduce the overall Benefit Cap – to £20,000, and to £13,400 for 
single claimants.  Early indications are that 218 customers could be affected for 
City of Lincoln and 64 for North Kesteven.  An initial data scan from DWP has 
been received – with a more refined scan expected in September.  Officers are 
proactively contacting potentially affected customers, and further communications 
will be issued in the lead up to introduction of the change in November. 
 

5.2 The demand on the DHP budget could increase significantly if a proportion of 
those affected by the reduced Benefit Cap apply for and qualify for DHP 
assistance – which could quite easily surpass the grants left available.  DWP took 
account of the Benefit Cap changes when releasing 2016/17 DHP grant figures – 
however officers believe the grants may fall well short of what is required for these 
changes and will monitor this risk very carefully in the coming months. 

 
6. 
 

 
Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan 

6.1 Progress with our shared service’s ‘high level’ Welfare Reform Strategy Action 
Plan is to be monitored by Joint Committee, on a quarterly basis.  An update on 
progress is provided at Appendix 1 to this report.  The action plan is fluid and 
flexible to respond to changes in welfare reform related priorities, changes and 
demands. 

39



 
7. Strategic Priorities 

 
7.1 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 

Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice. 
 

8. Organisational Impacts 
 

8.1 Finance:  DHP grants available for 2016/17 may not be sufficient on introduction of 
the reduced Benefit Cap from November 2016.  Officers will monitor financial 
impacts of this change and flag to respective S151 officers if consideration to 
further funding in this area is required/ requests to DWP for further funding. 
 

8.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  Legal colleagues will continue to 
work with officers regarding any legal impacts from DWP’s ‘no TUPE’ decision. 
 

8.3 Human Resources:  The ‘no TUPE’ announcement by DWP means there is the 
potential, over the next 3-5 years, for some staff to require undertaking revised 
roles.  In cases where compulsory redundancy cannot be avoided, DWP have 
stated they will meet these costs.  It is imperative that Council HR policies support 
colleagues who may become ‘at risk’ over the next 3-5 years. 
 

9. Risk Implications 
 

9.1 Levels of central government DHP grants have an impact on individual households 
in terms of affording their housing costs.  Existing DHP grants may be insufficient 
to meet demands from the reduced Benefit Cap being introduced from November 
2016. 
 

9.2 Welfare reform changes will have impacts on households in the districts – 
regarding which the shared service will endeavour to proactively respond. 
 

9.3 Due to ongoing rollout of Universal Credit, there is the potential that staff could 
choose to leave the service leaving key and important skills and resource gaps 
within the service. 

 
10. 

 
Recommendations 
 

10.1 
 

Members note the spend position in relation to Discretionary Housing Payment 
expenditure up to the end of July 2016. 
 

10.2 Members note the update provided in relation to Universal Credit. 
 

10.3 Members note the update provided in relation to Benefit Cap. 
 

10.4 Members note progress with the Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan. 
 

 
 
 

40



Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

Appendix 1:  Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan 
update 

 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 

 
List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and 
Benefits 

Telephone (01522) 873597 
 

41



This page is intentionally blank.



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

1 

 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

WR1 Continuation of 12-month 
USDL trial in partnership 
with WLDC, LCC, DWP 
and LAN 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Trial runs 
September 
2014-August 
2015 

Ongoing.  West Lincolnshire USDL trial has been 
extended to 30.11.15. 
 
COMPLETE – trial ended.  Evaluation report for all 
USDL trials from DWP anticipated Spring 2016. 
 
Update 5.8.16:  Trial evaluation report released 12.7.16 
- 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evaluation-
of-the-universal-support-delivered-locally-trials . 

 

WR2 Review of shared service 
job roles to ensure 
service is fit for purpose 
for delivering welfare 
reform changes – 
including USDL 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Quarter 2 
2016/17, and 
ongoing 

Update 4.5.16:  Insufficient information is still 
unavailable at this stage (e.g. UC rollout and impacts) – 
proposal is to re-consider this during Quarter 2 
2016/17. 
 
Update 5.8.16:  Still insufficient information available – 
roles being considered on a rolling basis as and when 
information becomes available. 
 

WR3 Analysis of any shared 
service staff training and 
development needs, 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Quarter 2 
2016/17, and 
ongoing 

Update 4.5.16:  Suggested insufficient information is 
available at this stage, so this analysis to move to same 
timescale alongside action WR2. 

43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evaluation-of-the-universal-support-delivered-locally-trials
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/evaluation-of-the-universal-support-delivered-locally-trials


6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

2 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

identification of 
transferrable skills 
 

 
Universal Credit training to staff (and other 
stakeholders) delivered prior to 30.11.15, and updates 
as required. 
 
Update 5.8.16:  Suggested insufficient information is 
available at this stage, so this analysis to move to same 
timescale alongside action WR2. 
 
 

WR4 Assess impacts of 
COL/NK funding 
changes regarding 
national UC rollout 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Ongoing Update 4.5.16:  Overall DWP and DCLG Admin Grants 
reduced for 2016/17 (for HB and CTS, respectively) 
and adjustment made to shared service budget. 
 

WR5 Review of DHP 
procedures for COL + 
NK for 2015/16 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Prior to 1st April 
2015, and 
throughout 
2015/16 via 
monthly 
monitoring 
 

COMPLETE – New procedures in place, implemented 
from 1st December 2015. 
 

WR6 Review of 2014/15 
Council Tax Support 
Schemes COL + NK 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

April-May 2015 COMPLETE 

44



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

3 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

 

WR7 Monthly monitoring of 
2015/16 Council Tax 
Support Schemes COL + 
NK 

Revenues and 
Benefits Manager 
 

Monthly, 
throughout 
2015/16 

COMPLETE 

WR8 Assessment of options 
for 2016/17 Council Tax 
Support Schemes 
COL+NK – including 
links into UC 
 
 
 
New action – consider 
options for CTS schemes 
2017/18 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 
 
 
 
 
Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

End August 
2015 
 
 
 
 
 
Quarter 2 
2016/17 
 
 
 

Update 4.5.16:  Schemes were approved by Full 
Councils prior to 31.1.16.  COMPLETE 
 
 

WR9 Implementation and 
delivery of welfare reform 
communications plan 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

April 2015 – 
April 2016 

COMPLETE (although this is effectively an ongoing 
action, being progressed through regular meetings with 
Communications Team representative) 
 

WR10 Agreement to initial 
Universal Credit 
Partnership Delivery 
Agreement between 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Date unknown – 
but anticipated 
during 2nd-3rd 

quarter 2015/16.  

Initial meeting took place 29.6.15, follow-up meeting to 
discuss costs/funding 7.8.15. 
 
Update 13.11.15:  Anticipated a shared agreement with 

45



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

4 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

COLC/NKDC and DWP  
 

COMPLETE re 
2015/16. 
 
New action:  
2016/17 DP 
agreement to be 
finalised and in 
place – target by 
end March 2016. 

West Lindsey District Council for the period 30.11.15-
31.3.16, will be agreed prior to 24.11.15. 
 
Update 12.2.16:  DP agreed 2015/16 and in place/ 
Initial discussion with DWP regarding 2016/17 DP 
agreement to took place 8.2.16 – needs to be 
considered/agreed by 7.3.16. 
 
Update 4.5.16:  Now agreed for 2016/17, with reduced 
funding from DWP – and subsequent reduced USDL 
resources.  COMPLETE 
 

WR11 Training delivery plan for 
UC and USDL to be 
formulated 
 

Revenues and 
Benefits Manager 

March 2015 – 
June 2015 

Training/awareness sessions for various internal and 
external stakeholders underway. 
 
COMPLETE – but ongoing, as required. 
 

WR12 Co-location of Jobcentre 
Plus into City Hall 
 

COLC Interim 
Service Review 
Lead 

End October 
2015 
 
December 2015-
January 2016 
 

Update 22.10.15:  Co-location will not take place until 
after Universal Credit initial rollout (from 30.11.15). 
 
Update 20.1.16:  Co-location to commence 25.1.16. 
 
Co-location has taken place, and further partnership 
working continuing.  COMPLETE 
 

46



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

5 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

WR13 Other opportunities for 
co-location to support 
USDL work identified 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Ongoing 
throughout 
2015/16, and 
into 2016/17. 

Update 20.1.16:  Discussions taking place with Sleaford 
and District Citizens Advice, for potential trial co-
location in NKDC Offices, Sleaford. 
 
Update 4.5.16:  6-month trial of Citizens Advice in 
NKDC Offices commenced 3.5.16. 
 

WR14 Work with LCC to 
determine impacts of and 
possibilities regarding 
potential loss of LCAS 
scheme from 2015/16 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits / COLC 
Customer 
Services 
Manager 
 

April 2015, and 
ongoing 

Update 4.5.16:  Scheme also in place from 1st April 
2016, analysis of impacts will be ongoing and picked up 
through Lincolnshire Financial Inclusion Partnership. 
 
Update 5.8.16:  LCAS has been extended to November 
2016. 
 

WR15 Work with LCC to 
determine how Corporate 
fraud funding achieved 
can be utilised to support 
resources following 
transfer of LA HB Fraud 
staff to DWP in October 
2014 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

January 2015 – 
onwards 

Update 22.10.15:  Various bids made to the fund and 
accepted.  Work taking place in relation to Council Tax 
Support Fraud work, Council Tax Single Person 
Discount review, and Business Rates fraud. 
 
Update 20.1.16:  Project meeting took place 26.1.16 to 
consider progress and next steps. 
 
Update 4.5.16:  Options for 2016/17 currently under 
consideration. 
 

47



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

6 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

Update 25.8.16:  Funding obtained from Lincolnshire 
Counter Fraud Partnership (LCFP) to run 6-month 
NNDR/Council Tax Support project from end August 
2016. 
  

WR16 Produce annual COL/NK 
welfare reform report 
 

Revenues and 
Benefits Manager 

End July 2015 
 

COMPLETE 
Various updates to COLC and NKDC committees 
during 2015/16 
 

WR17 Quarterly updates to 
Revenues and Benefits 
Joint Committee on 
welfare reform strategy 
progress 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Quarterly 
throughout 
2015/16 

Update 22.10.15:  Updates presented to Joint 
Committee 8.9.15 and 24.11.15. 
 
Update 20.1.16:  To be presented to Joint Committee 
23.2.16. 
 
Update 4.5.16:  To be presented to Joint Committee 
24.5.16. 
 
Updated 5.8.16:  To be presented to Joint Committee 
6.9.16. 
 

WR18 Formation and 
development of Local 
Universal Support 
(LUSP) group to meet 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

From January 
2015, and 
ongoing 

Update 22.10.15:  LUSP group has merged with West 
Lincolnshire USDL Group, initial meeting of merged 
group took place 21.10.15. 
 

48



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

7 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

local agenda between 
COL and NK, working 
closely with WLDC 
 

Update 20.1.16:  Meeting took place 22.1.16, next 
meeting 17.3.16. 
 
As this is now an ongoing forum action considered as 
COMPLETE 
 

WR19 Bi-annual USDL Steering 
Group meetings held at 
both Lincoln and 
Sleaford 
 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

2015/16 Update 22.10.15:  Meetings Nov and Dec 2015 
cancelled as superseded by DWP Universal Credit 
Stakeholders Event being held 4.11.15. 
 
COMPLETE – these will now only take place ‘ad hoc’ 
and as required in line with future UC/ USDL 
developments. 
 

WR20 Monitoring of COL/NK 
welfare reform initiatives 
with COL and NK 
Housing departments via 
quarterly meetings, and 
with Citizens Advice 
Bureau via biannual 
liaison meetings 
  

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

Ongoing 
throughout 
2014/15 and 
2015/16 (have 
been in place 
since 2012/13) 
 

Meetings continue to take place 
Considered COMPLETE – this is an ongoing action, 
and clear/robust mechanisms in place to deliver this. 
 

WR21 Work with DWP in 
relation to initial UC 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 

February-
November 2015 

Initial UC client group rollout date confirmed as being 
from 30.11.15 for COLC and NKDC, ongoing work with 

49



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

8 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

rollout in COL and NK 
from Sept-Nov 2015 
 

Benefits DWP taking place.  UC project lead/ resource in place. 
 
Update 20.1.16:  COMPLETE 
 

WR22 Analyse potential 
impacts of key welfare 
reform announcements 
from Summer Budget 
2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis of potential Tax 
Credit changes impacts 
in COLC and NKDC. 

Head of Shared 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

July-August 
2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October-
December 2015 
DONE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dec 2015 – Jun 

Initial assessment document presented to Revenues 
and Benefits Joint Committee 8.9.15 
Note – document will be updated as and when further 
information is available/ further analysis takes place. 
 
Update 22.10.15:  This is a new action.  Work taking 
place to analyse potential impacts – with further work to 
take place following Autumn Statement on 25.11.15. 
 
Update 20.1.16:  Autumn Statement announcement – 
initial impact assessment has taken place, further work 
to take place as more detail announced. 
 
Update 4.5.16:  This work is continuing.  Impact of 
reduced Benefit Cap from Autumn 2016 currently being 
investigated. 
 
Update 5.8.16:  Initial impact assessment of reduced 
Benefit Cap from 7th November 2016, included as 
Appendix 2 to this report. 
 

50



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
 
Appendix 1 – Welfare Reform Strategy Action Plan update 
 

9 

 

Ref. Action Responsible 
Officer/ 
Organisation 

Target Date Comments/ Updates 

2016 
 

 

51



T
his page is intentionally blank.



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 
 

 1ST JUNE 2016  
  

 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

BENEFITS CAP 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

ROB KAY, WELFARE REFORM LEAD 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To provide management with an update on Benefit Cap, which DWP have announced for 
the shared service. 
 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 This report provides notification on the potential impact of the Benefit Cap, which is due to 
be in place from Autumn 2016 and how DHP is expected to be used. 
 

 
3. 

 
Background 
 

3.1 
 

The benefit cap was originally introduced in April 2013 and ensured that no household on 
benefits would receive more income than a family earning the average wage (£26,000) 
(£500 per week). The cap for single claimants was set at £18,200 per annum (£350 per 
week). 

 
3.2 
 

 
Households with a resident receiving Disability Living Allowance (DLA) or Personal 
Independence Payments (PIP) are exempt from the cap, along with any household who is 
working enough hours to be eligible to claim Working Tax Credit (WTC). 
 

3.3 The summer budget confirmed that the annual cap has been reviewed will be reduced to 
£20,000 (£384.62 per week). The cap for single claimants is to be reduced to £13,400 
(£257.69 per week) from Autumn 2016. The previous exemptions will apply with the new 
rates, meaning disabled customers will not be affected. Below is an analysis of the potential 
impacts of the new cap in Lincoln and North Kesteven: 

 
4. 

 
July 2015 predications for Lincoln and North Kesteven 
 

4.1 Single Claimants 
 

4.2 The figures below are based on the standard 2015/16 Jobseekers Allowance rates, and the 
applicable 2015/16 Local Housing Allowance rate. 
 

Age of  Jobseekers Housing Total Annual Weekly cap 

53



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 
 

claimant Allowance Benefit income income 

Under 25 £57.90 £58.90 £116.80 £6,073.60 £0.00 

      
      

25-34 £73.10 £58.90 £132.00 £6,864 £0.00 

35+ £73.10 £81.58 £154.68 £8,043.36 £0.00 
 

 
4.3 

 
Lone Parents 
 

4.4 The figures below are based on a lone parent receiving the maximum Local Housing 
Allowance and Child Tax Credit amounts for 2015/16. 
 

Household 
makeup 

Jobseekers 
Allowance 

Child 
Benefit 

Child 
Tax 
Credit 

Housing 
Benefit 

Total 
income 

Yearly 
income 

Weekly 
cap 

1 child/2 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £20.70 £63.77 £100.22 £257.79 £13,405 £0.00 

2 
children/2 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £34.40 £117.08 £100.22 £324.80 £16,889 £0.00 

2 
children/3 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £34.40 £117.08 £115.07 £339.65 £17,661 £0.00 

3 
children/3 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £48.10 £170.40 £115.07 £406.67 £21,146 £22.05 

3 
children/4 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £61.80 £170.40 £148.01 £453.31 £23,572 £68.69 

4 
children/3 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £75.50 £223.71 £115.07 £487.38 £25,344 £102.76 

4 
children/4 
bed LHA 

£73.10 £75.50 £223.71 £148.01 £520.32 £27,056 £135.70 

 

 
4.5 

 
Couples 

 
4.6 

 
The figures below are based on a couple receiving jobseekers allowance with the 
maximum Local Housing Allowance and Child Tax Credit rates for 2015/16. 
 

Household 
makeup 

Jobseekers 
Allowance 

Child 
Benefit 

Child 
Tax 
Credit 

Housing 
Benefit 

Total 
income 

Yearly 
income 

Weekly 
cap 

1 child/2 
bed LHA 

£114.85 £20.70 £63.77 £100.22 £299.54 £15,576 £0.00 

2 
children/2 

£114.85 £34.40 £117.08 £100.22 £366.55 £19,060 £0.00 

54



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 
 

bed LHA 

2 
children/3 
bed LHA 

£114.85 £34.40 £117.08 £115.07 £381.40 £19,832 £0.00 

3 
children/3 
bed LHA 

£114.85 £48.10 £170.40 £115.07 £448.42 £23,317 £63.80 

3 
children/4 
bed LHA 

£114.85 £48.10 £170.40 £148.01 £495.06 £25,743 £110.44 

4 
children/4 
bed LHA 

£114.85 £61.80 £223.71 £148.01 £548.37 £28,515 £163.75 

 

 
4.7 

 
Numbers affected 
 

4.8 It will be impossible to accurately identify the number of households affected by the new 
cap until the Department for Work and Pensions releases some initial data. However, using 
the Shared Housing Benefit Extract (SHBE) we can identify the number claims which meet 
the above criteria: 
 

4.9 Private Tenants 

 Household 
breakdown 

COLC Number of 
households affected 

NKDC Number of 
households affected 

Lone parent 3 children/3 bed 
LHA rate 

59 31 

 3 children/4 bed 
LHA rate 

0 7 

 4 children/3 bed 
LHA rate 

12 4 

 4 children/4 bed 
LHA rate 

0 9 

 3 children/3 bed 
LHA rate 

18 40 

 3 children/ 4 bed 
LHA rate 

6 8 

 4 children/4 bed 
LHA rate 

3 9 

 

  
4.10 Council stock 
 
 
 

 Household 
breakdown 

COLC Number of 
households affected 

NKDC Number of 
households affected 

Lone parent 3 children + rent 
over £90 

2 2 

 4 or more children 0 3 

Couple 3 or more children 30 4 
 

  
4.11 It is very difficult to predict the level of deductions for Council properties due to the varying 

55



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 
 

nature of rent levels. However, due to lower numbers it is likely that there will be a much 
lower impact than on the private sector. 

 
5. 

 
DWP data notification 
 

5.1 On 25th May we received a scan aide memoir showing where DWP collected their data 
from and the timeliness of the data.  

 
5.2 

 
The scan aide has a list of all eligible and exempt benefits as well as any questions that 
may arise from the scan. 
 

6. DWP Data 
 

6.1 DWP provided us with a list of how many residents in Lincoln and North Kesteven would be 
affected by the Benefit Cap. We were predicted to have between 0-199 for each authority. 
 

6.2 For Lincoln we received 218 potentially affected and 64 for NK. 
  
6.3 
 

I went through each case and looked at the make-up of the claim to see whether DWP 
information was accurate or whether the particular household should be affected. 
 

6.4 LA Number 
from DWP 

Number 
should have 
cap 

Number 
should not 
have cap 

Total 
weekly 
reduction 
(£) 

Average 
weekly 
reduction 
(£) 

COLC 218 119 99 £6372.20 £53.55 

NKDC 64 45 19 £3173.12 £70.51 

After identifying the cases that I do not believe should be affected by the Ben Cap I wrote to 
the DWP to explain that they had some incorrect residents listed.  
 

6.5 This can then be further split by housing stock and privately rented 

LA Number 
should 
have 
cap 

Privately 
rented 

Private 
weekly 
total 

Private 
weekly 
average 

Council 
rented 

Council 
weekly 
total 

Council 
weekly 
average 

COLC 119 68 £3065.51 £45.08 51 £3306.69 £64.84 

NKDC 45 35 £2278.34 £65.10 10 £894.78 £89.48 
 

 
 
7. 

 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

 
7.1 

 
In the Summer budget it was announced that the increase in DHP would be for the 
impending introduction of the Benefit Cap. The Benefit Cap will be coming in from Autumn 
2016, therefore October – April is 6 months of DHP. 
 

7.2 
 

The table below shows DHP entitlements for 2016/17 and Benefit Cap reductions for 6 
months. 

 LA 2015/16 Amount 2016/17 £ increase Ben Cap for 

56



6th September 2016 Revenues and Benefits Joint Committee 
Welfare Reform Update 
Appendix 2:  Benefit Cap report 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DHP spent DHP 6 months 

COLC £139,678 £162,917.63 £173,623.67 £33,945.67 £165,677.20 

NKDC £99,977 £72,759.06 £107,514 £7,539 £82,501.12 

 
Lincoln have an additional £26,760.37 from 2015/16 general fund, meaning total DHP 
available for Lincoln is £200,384.04. 

8. Strategic Priorities 
 

8.1 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits Service has a 
key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring residents receive the benefits 
they are entitled to and providing money/debt advice. 

 
9. 

 
Risk Implications 

 
9.1 Overspend of DHP 
 
10. 

 
Recommendations 
 

10.1 
 

I shall be drafting a letter an writing out to all 282 customers that the DWP has said are at 
risk of the Benefit Cap to offer advice and clarification should they wish to contact me. 

 

57



This page is intentionally blank.



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE 6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT – HOUSING BENEFITS AND 
COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 

To inform this committee of a recent audit carried out by Audit Lincolnshire with 
regard to payment of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support by our shared 
service. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 Audit Lincolnshire published a report on 27th May 2016, seeking assurance on the 
following aspects of Benefits provision by our shared service: 

 

 Claims being correctly processed; 

 Effective quality systems being in place; 

 Subsidy arrangements (and lessons learned) being effective; 

 Council Tax Support Scheme being managed effectively. 
 

2.2 The outcome of the audit was positive with ‘Substantial Assurance’ achieved.  
 

2.3 The report makes a number of recommendations, which are included as Appendix 
1 to the report with updates on progress against the required actions. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

In 2015/16 the our Shared Revenues and Benefits Service paid; 

 £52.5million in Housing Benefits to 13,601 claimants (caseload)  

 £12.5million Council Tax Support to 15,796 claimants (caseload). 
 
An internal audit, carried out by Audit Lincolnshire, carried out on audit in early 
2016 focussing on accuracy of claims assessment, quality control, subsidy 
arrangements and management of the Council Tax Support (CTS) schemes for 
both City of Lincoln and North Kesteven. 
 

3.2 Officers within the shared service provided relevant information and data 
throughout the audit, so that a verdict on assurance as well as an appropriate 
action plan could be put into place. 
 

3.3 
 

The outcome of the audit was positive, with most areas giving assurance as to 
procedures and controls in place – with a ‘Substantial’ rating given.  Substantial 
assurance as defined by Audit Lincolnshire, is: 
 

59

Item No. 9



Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a substantial level of 
confidence (assurance) on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, 
and operation of controls and / or performance. 
 
There are some improvements needed in the application of controls to manage 
risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and 
operating sufficiently so that the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives is 
medium to low.   
 

4. Highlights of Report and Action Plan 
 

4.1 Claims Processing:   
Verification of supporting claim information and handling of valuable documents is 
effective.  Initiatives are in place to advertise the need for customers to notify 
changes in their circumstance.  Staff receive training and details of changes to 
processes, performance is managed effectively by management, and a ‘conflicts 
of interest’ protocol is in place. 
 
However, further action is needed in relation to a formal training/development plan, 
some slight changes are recommended to the ‘conflicts of interest’ process, and 
learning arrangements need to be in place in relation to claim reviews/ appeals. 
 

4.2 Quality: 
Although checks are undertaken to determine accuracy of claims processing, 
development of a policy and updating of certain procedures is needed. 
 

4.3 Subsidy: 
By having a formal subsidy resource in place, this has led to improvements in a 
structured process and production of an action plan.  All aspects of subsidy are 
being monitored and no recommendations on improvement were given. 
 

4.4 Council Tax Support schemes: 
The schemes for both partner authorities had been appropriately consulted upon 
and approved, and system parameters in place.  The CTS fraud exercise from 
2015/16 needs to be reviewed and the fraud monitoring spreadsheet 
updated/enhanced. 
 

4.5 Action Plan: 
Following discussions with management, an action plan has been agreed to 
implement to recommendations made.  The Action Plan is included at Appendix 1 
to this report with appropriate updates against actions. 
 

5. Strategic Priorities 
 

5.1 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 
Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice. 
 

6. Organisational Impacts 
 

6.1 Finance:  Incorrect payment and/or subsidy classification of Housing Benefit can 

60



have a significant impact on customers as well as subsidy due to the Councils.  
Incorrectly paid Council Tax Support can result in loss of Council Tax monies due 
to the Councils. 
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

6.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights:  There are no direct Equality, Diversity or 
Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 A Risk Register is in place for the Revenues and Benefits shared service. 
 

8. Recommendations 
 

8.1 
 

Members note the outcome of this audit report. 

8.2 Members note progress against the associated Action Plan. 
 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 
 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

Appendix 1:  Internal Audit Report – Housing Benefits 
and Council Tax Support 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and 
Benefits 

Telephone (01522) 873597 
 

61



This page is intentionally blank.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Report 
 
Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support 
 
 
 
 

Overall Opinion: 

     
 
 
 

Date:     25/05/16 

63



 

Contents 
 
 
 
Introduction and Scope                                                                                              

Page 
1 

  
Executive Summary  

Assurance Opinion                                                                                             
Key Messages   

1 
1-3 

  
Management Response                                                                                              3 
  
Action Plan   

Findings, Recommendations and Agreed Actions 4 
  
Low Priority Recommendations  

Findings and Low Priority Recommendations 12 
  
Appendix  

Appendix 1 – Assurance Definitions 14 
  

 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit 
work.  Our quality assurance processes ensure that our work is conducted in conformance with the UK 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and that the information contained in this report is as accurate 
as possible – we do not provide absolute assurance that material errors, fraud or loss do not exist.   
 
This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members and Management of City of Lincoln 
Council.  Details may be made available to specified external organisations, including external 
auditors, but otherwise the report should not be used or referred to in whole or in part without prior 
consent.  No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is 
not intended for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Principal Auditor Paul Berry MAAT 

Audit Manager  John Scott CMIIA 

Distribution Draft & Final 
Chief Finance Officer (COLC) 
Head of Shared Revenues & Benefits 
Revenues & Benefits Manager 
 
Final only 
Chief Executive (COLC) 
P.Roberts – Corporate Director (NKDC) 
R.Stone – Head of Finance and Resources (NKDC) 
 

64



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 1 of 14 
 

Introduction and Scope  
 
 
In 2015/16 the Shared Revenues and Benefits Service paid; 
 

 £52.5million in Housing Benefits to 13,601 claimants  

 £12.5million Council Tax Support to 15,796 claimants 
 
 

 Housing Benefit 
 

Council Tax Support 

 Amount Cases Amount Cases 

     

COLC £34m 8771 £7.5m 9581 

NKDC  £18.5m 4830 £5m 6215 

 
 
The audit was seeking to gain assurance on the following risks; 
 

 Claims are incorrectly processed 

 Effective quality systems are not in place 

 Subsidy arrangements (and lessons learned) are not effective 

 Council Tax Support Scheme is not managed effectively 
 
 
 

Executive Summary  
 

Assurance Opinion – Substantial 
 

 
 
 

 

 
Claims processing 
 
We found that; 
 

 The processes to receive, record and check Benefit claims operate in 
accordance with the Standard Verification Framework, which ensures that 
the circumstances of the applicant are thoroughly checked. 

 Processing performance is closely monitored by management and the 
Shared Revenues & Benefits Joint Committee. 

 There are a range of initiatives to make customers aware of how important 
it is to advise of any changes of circumstances. 

65



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 2 of 14 
 

 New staff receive comprehensive training and all staff are trained on new 
processes and legislation changes although it is felt that there is a lack of 
refresher training in some areas. 

 Valuable documents (passports, bank statements, etc) sent in by 
customers are being securely handled and returned and there are checks 
to ensure that it is bona fide 

 Data received electronically from the DWP and HMRC is being correctly 
and completely processed 

 There is an annual conflicts of interest process to ensure that staff do not 
work on the claims of people that they know. 

 
Some areas requiring improvement were identified; 
 

 There is no formal training and development plan / process to ensure that 
all staff have the appropriate level ok knowledge. 

 There is no process to learn from the outcomes of appeals of HB and CTR 
decisions which may mean that processing errors or interpretation 
problems will continue to be made.  

 The annual conflict of interest process requires all staff to respond but there 
are no checks to ensure that everyone does respond. 

 Where there is a conflict of interest access to that claim is denied. 
Guidance states that access denials will be reviewed every 6 months but 
this is not being done. 

 
Quality 
 
We found that quality and accuracy checks were being undertaken, but we 
identified areas of inconsistency and several areas for potential improvement; 
 

 Improve the quality checking process, including developing a QC policy 

 Introduce a formal training and development plan 

 Update the Destin procedural guidance 

 Ensure fraud liaison procedure notes / process maps are finalised 
 
Subsidy 
 
There is a subsidy resource at both sites with one taking the subsidy lead. 
Having an increased subsidy resource has resulted in a much more formal and 
structured process, including the production of an action plan (to address 
previous subsidy errors) and the delivery of staff training. This level of resource 
is to continue through 2016/17 and the benefits will continue to be realised. 
 
All aspects of subsidy are being regularly monitored, particularly the LA error 
level, which can result in some subsidy being lost if certain thresholds are 
exceeded. For 2015/16 it is looking like both authorities will receive 100% subsidy 
on LA error, although this is subject to verification by External Audit. 
 
No areas were identified which required improvement. 
 

66



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 3 of 14 
 

Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
We found that; 
 

 The schemes had been correctly consulted on and approved. 

 The arrangements for budget monitoring are satisfactory 

 System parameters had been correctly set on the system. 

 Transfers from HB to CT are operating satisfactorily 

 Fraud liaison arrangements were becoming further established since the 
transfer of investigations to SFIS 

 Work was now up to date, following the clearance of some backlogs in 
15/16 

 Established protocols were working well to receive and send information 
from the Council to SFIS/DWP 

 A pilot (pro-active) CTR fraud exercise was completed in 15/16 
 
Some areas requiring improvement were identified; 
 

 Review the outcomes of the CTR counter fraud 15/16 exercise and 
determine if further work will be completed in 2016/17. Ensure that the 
outputs are reported up to senior management. 

 Update and enhance the fraud monitoring spreadsheet 
 
 

    

 
We would like to thank Jo Moore, Laura Brown, Therese Swain, Janette Young, 
June Pitt, Paul Thornhill & Chris Freer for their assistance and co-operation 
throughout the course of this audit. 

 
 
 

Management Response  
 
 
 

 
 

 
Management Actions 
 

 
No 

 
All to be completed by: 

High Priority  
 

3 30th September 2016 

Medium Priority 6 
 

31st October 2016 

67



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 4 of 14 
 

Findings, Recommendations and Agreed Actions  
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

1.  Training 
New staff receive comprehensive 
training and all staff are trained 
on new processes / legislation 
changes but it is felt that there is 
a lack of refresher training. 
 
A Sleaford Team Leader 
considers that her staff would 
benefit from further training on 
Persons from Abroad and 
Overpayments. 
 
In the past there was a Training 
Officer but Team Leaders are 
now responsible for training as 
and when time allows, so it is not 
as formal as it used to be. 
 
There is no formal training and 
development plan; 
 

 Formal training records not 
maintained 

 Employee induction across the 
two sites isn’t standardised 

Introduce a formal training and 
development plan 
 

 Develop a formal training 
(learning / development) plan 

 Identify training needs and 
provide the training that is 
required 

 Maintain formal training records 

 Standardise / formalise the way 
new employees are 
inducted/trained across the two 
sites 

 Review Customer Services 
training needs at COLC 

 
 

a) New starters will be receiving 
a 3-day introduction to HB 
course.  This will also be 
offered to those staff who 
have started within the last 
12 months.  This course will 
be provided to all new 
starters (and customer 
service staff at Lincoln) 
within the shared service to 
ensure consistency.  
 

b) Use of Destin - will improve 
the reference material 
available to staff.  This will 
be updated regularly as new 
changes to legislation are 
issued. Full review and 
rollout of use to be 
completed by target date. 
 

c) Training needs will be 
identified during 2016 
appraisal process and 
incorporated into a team / 

High Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 
 
a) 31 July 2016 

Update: 
Training 
provided 
identified 
and to be 
delivered to 
new starters 
 
 

b) 30 June 
2016 
Update:  
Responsibilit
ies assigned 
and updates 
being made 
 

c) 30th 
September 
2016 

68



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 5 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

 Customer Services training 
needs at COLC not reviewed for 
some time 

 
Risk; 
Staff may not have the 
appropriate level of knowledge 
and errors may be made. 
 

individual training and 
development plan. 

 
Recording and delivery options 
are being considered. 

d) Update:  
Appraisals 
taking place 
and training 
needs being 
identified 
 
 
 

2.  Quality and accuracy 
 
Although there is a quality 
checking process and accuracy 
performance is reported, there 
are several improvements that 
can be considered. 
 
There is no overarching QC 
policy to help with guidance in 
this area and there are some 
inconsistencies between Lincoln 
and Sleaford sites; 
 

 No QC policy  

 Not formally signing off 

individual check sheets (NKDC) 

 Level of checks too low and not 

applied evenly 

 Sampling techniques not robust 

 All officers are not checked  

Improve the quality checking 
process, including; 
 

 Introduce QC policy  

 Formally sign off individual check 
sheets (NKDC) 

 Agree a “reasonable” target 
percentage (or total) check for 
both sites and monitor. Apply 
checks evenly over the year. 

 Review how the QC samples are 
chosen, currently far more 
obtained than required 

 Ensure all officers are 
(proportionately) captured in the 
QC checks, and monitor this 

 Develop use of PMQA, 
particularly at Lincoln 

 Discuss the accuracy 
performance indictor with 
Principal Policy Officer (JW) to 
ensure a more meaningful and 
reliable PI; additional testing for 

QC Policy to be issued to all 
staff (drafted by Subsidy Lead 
and agreed by all Benefits Team 
Leaders, Service Manager and 
Head of Service) to include all 
recommendations within this 
audit. 
 
Policy to provide clear lines of 
responsibility for end to end 
process. 
 
Individual checks will be signed 
off by subsidy officer. 
 
Outcomes of checks will be 
issued to individuals, where 
amendments are required, 
individuals will be required to 
undertake these as a learning 

High Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 
 
31st July 2016 
Update:  Draft 
Policy circulated 
to management 
team and 
document being 
updated to 
reflect 
representations 
made 

69



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 6 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

 Use of PMQA underdeveloped, 

particularly at Lincoln 

 Quality / reliability of the 

performance indictor not robust. 

 Managers do not have access to 

more detail on quality checks, 

including non-financial errors 

and numbers of checks 

completed 

 Collection of QC information is 

not standardised  (no common 

spreadsheet across both sites), 

including error codes. 

 No reporting of the financial 

impact of errors 

 Existing “high value” (currently 

£600/£700) checks not included 

in the accuracy PI 

Risk; 
Without a robust and consistent 
QC policy reported accuracy may 
not be as useful as it could be 
and quality may not improve as 
much as it could do. 
 
 
 
 

weaker staff could be dealt with 
separately perhaps. 

 Ensure that Managers have 
access to more detail on quality 
checks, including non-financial 
errors and numbers of checks 
completed 

 Consider standardising the 
collection of QC information  
(common spreadsheet across 
both sites), including error codes. 

 Consider including/reporting the 
financial impact of errors 

 Consider adding the “high value” 
(currently £600/£700) checks into 
the accuracy PI 

 

exercise. 
 
Subsidy Officer will provide an 
update to each RBMT – 
financial, procedural errors, 
error rate etc 
 

3.  Procedures 
The Destin procedural guidance 

a) Update the Destin procedural 
guidance 

a) This was being finalised at 
the time of audit – covered 

High Revenues & 
Benefits 

70



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 7 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

is not up to date – this acts as a 
key central reference point for HB 
staff 
 
Fraud procedures and process 
diagrams have been drafted by 
but not finalised; it would be 
useful to get these completed and 
distributed to staff to avoid any 
confusion. 
 
Risk; 
Without up to date guidance, 
errors could increase. 
 

 
b) Ensure fraud procedure notes / 

process maps are finalised 

by Agreed Action 1b. 
 

b) Implemented during the audit 
 

Manager 
 
a) As per 

Action 1b – 
30 June 
2016 
 

b) N/A 

4.  Conflicts of interest 
An annual conflict of interest 
process is in place which requires 
a response (whether it is positive 
or negative) but there are no 
checks to ensure that everyone 
does respond. 
 
Guidance states that access 
denials will be reviewed every 6 
months but this is not being done 
(due to pressure of work). 
 
Risk; 

a) Monitor conflict of interest 
responses to ensure that all 
officers respond. 
 

b) Review access denials every 6 
months. 

 

a) When the annual exercise is 
next undertaken it will be 
made clear that no response 
by a specific target will be 
treated as a nil response 
 

b) Agreed. This will commence 
six months after the next 
annual exercise. The wider 
management team will be 
involved in the review to 
spread the workload. 

Medium Head of Shared 
Revenues & 
Benefits 
 
a) 31st July 

2016  
Update:  
Annual 
declaration 
request 
issued 
19.7.16 with 
‘nil response’ 
clarity part of  

71



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 8 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

Some staff may not be complying 
with the conflict of interest 
requirements. 
 

briefing note 
 

b) 31st January 
2017 

 
 

5.  Detection of fraudulent evidence 
Workflow Management staff 
review passports and other 
original documents to determine if 
they are valid but it is some time 
ago since they had fraud training. 
 
Risk; 
Fraudulent evidence may not be 
detected. 
 

Consider refresher training for 

Workflow staff on the detection of 

fraudulent evidence. 

 

Refresher Training to be 
provided to all staff. 
 

Medium Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 
 
31 October 
2016 

6.  Customer satisfaction 
Customer satisfaction data is 
collected from very low numbers 
of customers (for COLC 47 
surveys were received in 2015/16 
from a single type of contact 
(appointments) only). 
 
Risk; 
Current customer satisfaction 
figures may not be reflective of 
the whole customer base. 

Consider increasing the level of 
satisfaction survey work 
undertaken. 

Management team to review the 
customer satisfaction survey 
process’ 

Medium Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 
 
30th September 
2016 (with new 
process to 
commence in 
October). 

72



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 9 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

7.  Learning from Appeals 
There is no process to learn from 
the outcomes of appeals of HB 
and CTR decisions.  
 
Risk; 
Processing errors or 
interpretation problems will 
continue to be made.  
 

Introduce a process to provide 
feedback / learning points from HB 
and CTR appeals. 

Feedback process to be 
implemented and to be included 
as part of the QC checking 
(include in policy). 

Medium Revenues & 
Benefits 
Manager 
 
31 August 2016 
Update:  See 2) 
(above) re draft 
policy 

8.  Pro-active CTR counter fraud 
This work has been ongoing 
during the latter half of 2015/16 
using WLDC to help with a pilot 
exercise as part of the 
Lincolnshire Counter Fraud 
Partnership.   
 
The results of this work were not 
available at the time of audit but 
are expected to be reported to 
the LCFP on the 18th May 2016.  
Officers have reported that it has 
been time consuming.  
 
No decision on future pro-active 
work has been agreed, but there 
are no planned budget resources 
available in 16/17. 

Review the outcomes of the CTR 
counter fraud 15/16 exercise and 
determine if further work will be 
completed in 2016/17. Ensure that 
the outputs are reported up to 
senior management. 

Outcome of CTR review will be 
reported to Finance Officers by 
Gillian Martin (Lincolnshire 
Counter Fraud Partnership 
Manager). 
 
A decision is required regarding 
the way forward. 
 
 

Medium Head of Shared 
Revenues & 
Benefits 
 
30th September 
2016 (hopefully 
with a process 
to commence in 
October). 
Update:  6-
month 
NNDR/CTR 
project starting 
end August 
2016, utilising 
Lincolnshire 
Counter Fraud 
Partnership 
funding 

73



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 10 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

 

9.  Fraud Monitoring 
There are 37 cases going back to 
late 2014 where a decision has 
been passed to the DWP on HB 
overpayment (using the LAIF 
form). However, it is not clear on 
the monitoring spreadsheet which 
ones have been fully closed off; it 
could be that some are still 
waiting action from DWP and an 
administrative penalty for 
example may still be pending. 
 
DWP may initiate an investigation 
or enquiry through their own 
referral information rather than 
from the Council; further 
information is requested from the 
Council via the LAIF system. 
Although these are recorded by 
us they are not transferred onto 
the monitoring spreadsheet which 
would aid management 
information. 
 
Risk; 
Additions to the management 
monitoring spreadsheet would 

Update the monitoring spreadsheet 
to more clearly track when cases 
that have been sent as a “decision” 
to DWP are finally closed off by 
DWP (as an ad-pen or prosecution 
may still be pending) 
 
Update the monitoring spreadsheet 
to capture all DWP referrals to 
ColC/NKDC via the LAIF. 

Implemented during the audit. Medium N/A 

74



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 11 of 14 
 

 
No Findings 

 
Recommendations 

 
Agreed Actions 

 
Priority 

 
Responsibility 
& Timescale 

help to provide a more complete 
picture of referral progress and 
would aid discussions in DWP 
liaison meetings. 
 

75



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 12 of 14 
 

Low Priority Recommendations 
 

The following items are advisory recommendations / comments arising from the audit, which management may wish to consider implemented to 
improve the system or performance. 
 

 
No 
 

Findings 
 

Advisory Recommendation 

1.  LA error monitoring report 
At NKDC the LA error figure is calculated from a Sub30 report whilst 
at COLC it is obtained using a Northgate Subsidy workbook tool. 
 

Consider monitoring quarterly LA error figures using the same 
process - perhaps the Sub30 report does not need to be 
produced. 

2.  Different ways of working – claims processing 
There are a number of differences in the way that the Lincoln and 
Sleaford offices operate; 
 
a) At Sleaford benefits assessors deal directly with the customer 

(appointments are not required) and rarely receive supporting 
documentation by post. Whereas at Lincoln the Customer 
Services team are the first (& main) point of contact followed by 
appointments with Benefits assessors as required. 
 

b) Lincoln claimants can complete a hard copy form at home and 
send it in to City Hall after requesting a form via the website – 
this option is not offered at Sleaford. 
 

c) Sleaford enclose a ‘Benefit Info’ leaflet with all correspondence 
(this includes CofC information) whereas Lincoln enclose the 
‘Benefit Info’ leaflet with annual letters only. 
 

d) Sleaford dispose of valuables checklists after 8 weeks whereas 

Consider whether any of the different ways of working should be 
standardised. 
 
 
a) It is unlikely there would be standardisation due to the 

corporate decisions which have been made in relation to 
customer contact 

 
 
 
b) This will be standardised once Citizens Access is launched 

(summer 2016) 
 
 
c) Sleaford enclose the leaflet due to the difference in the 

payment run – the leaflet includes a payment calendar.  This 
is not required for Lincoln. 
 

d) Discussion required at RBMT as to why this is different and 

76



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report 

 

 

Page 13 of 14 
 

 
No 
 

Findings 
 

Advisory Recommendation 

Lincoln retain them for 4-6 months (both sites dispose of 
scanned documents after 8 weeks). 
 

e) At Lincoln new claims / CofC work is issued out daily by Team 
Leaders (using a list). At Sleaford assessors keep any new work 
that they receive whilst working on the counter. 
 
 

f) Lincoln try to obtain customer satisfaction data from all those 
who attend appointments whilst Sleaford survey customers on 
set weeks. 
 

g) Where customers bring original documents into the office Lincoln 
give a copy of a valuables checklist back to the customer, whilst 
Sleaford do not. 

 

decision to be made 
 
 
e) Lincoln based staff do not see customers face to face on 

demand (it is by appointment) – majority of work is received 
via post/email and so is issued by team leaders to ensure 
work levels are maintained 
 

f) Discussion required at RBMT as to why this is different and 
decision to be made 

 
 
g) Discussion required at RBMT as to why this is different and 

decision to be made 
 
 
 

77



Audit Lincolnshire – Internal Audit Report                                            Appendix 1 

 

 

Page 14 of 14 
 

Assurance Definitions1 
High  
 
 

Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a high level of confidence on service 
delivery arrangements, management of risks, and the operation of controls and / or 
performance.   
 
The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low.  Controls have been 
evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are operating effectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Substantial  
 
 

 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a substantial level of confidence 
(assurance) on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls 
and / or performance. 
 
There are some improvements needed in the application of controls to manage risks. However, 
the controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that 
the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives is medium to low.   
 
 
 
 
  

 
Limited  
 

 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a limited level of confidence on 
service delivery arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls and / or 
performance. 
 
The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be operating or are inadequate. 
Therefore, the controls evaluated are unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence 
(assurance) that the risks are being managed effectively.  It is unlikely that the activity will 
achieve its objectives. 
 

Low 
 

 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity identified significant concerns on service 
delivery arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls and / or performance. 
 
There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key risks or the controls have 
been evaluated as not adequate, appropriate or are not being effectively operated. Therefore 
the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives is high. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

                                                 
1
 These definitions are used as a means of measuring or judging the results and impact of matters identified in the 

audit. The assurance opinion is based on information and evidence which came to our attention during the audit.  Our 
work cannot provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist.  

78



SHARED REVENUES AND BENEFITS JOINT COMMITTEE  6 SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

SHARED SERVICE AS AN AGENCY 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

MARTIN WALMSLEY, HEAD OF SHARED REVENUES AND 
BENEFITS 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 
 

 
To provide a discussion paper on the potential for the Revenues and Benefits 
Shared Service to operate as an agency. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 At a previous meeting of this committee, a paper regarding the potential for the 
Revenues and Benefits to adopt an agency approach was requested, looking to 
‘sell’ services to other authorities.  This paper explores this approach. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

Our Revenues and Benefits Shared Services operates under City of Lincoln 
Council’s Terms and Conditions, as the host partner for the shared service.  All 
staff are paid under City of Lincoln’s pay grades and adhere to the associated 
terms of employment. 
 

3.2 From time to time, as and when needed, the shared service requires agency 
assistance – for example, to clear backlogs of work, or to cover an unforeseen 
staffing absence. Normally such arrangements are relatively short-term, but can 
on occasions become extended when the need arises.  The shared service spent 
£88,741 on Agency staff in the financial year 2015/16, and in 2016/17 for the 
period up to the end of July 2016 has spent £21,223. 
 

3.3 
 

Instead of procuring agency services from other companies, our shared service 
could potentially look to operate as an ‘agency’ itself – utilising resources on its’ 
own payroll and selling these services to other local authorities as and when they 
require additional resources. 
 

3.4 
 

Officers have identified some examples/ discussion papers on this subject, as 
below: 

 Grant Thornton paper ‘Alternative Delivery Models in Local Government 
(http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/Documents/Alternative-Delivery-Models-
LG.pdf ), and 

 LGSS (http://www.lgss.co.uk/Pages/Home.aspx) . 
   

3.5 The Grant Thornton paper very much looks at working in partnership, establishing 
companies to deliver statutory services as well as commissioning and managing 
contracts.  The motivations of such models are often for realisation of financial 
benefits, however with this approach comes inherent risks – for example, where 

79

Item No. 10

http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/Documents/Alternative-Delivery-Models-LG.pdf
http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/Documents/Alternative-Delivery-Models-LG.pdf
http://www.lgss.co.uk/Pages/Home.aspx


an outsourced model does not deliver and the service has to be brought back in-
house.  The paper also mentions shared services as a popular and innovative 
delivery model – which, of course, City of Lincoln and North Kesteven already 
operates for Revenues and Benefits – delivering significant savings of £0.5m per 
annum. 
 

3.6 LGSS is a shared service jointly owned by Cambridgeshire County Council, Milton 
Keynes Council and Northamptonshire County Council.  This was established in 
October 2010 through the merger of the Corporate Services operations of 
Cambridgeshire and Northamptonshire County Councils into a single, shared 
service providing all professional, transactional and operational services 
to both organisations.  The LGSS partnership is a 'shared services' initiative and is 
one of the largest across the midlands and East Anglia. It includes a framework 
agreement allowing other public sector organisations to purchase or partner in 
delivering services through LGSS. 
 

3.7 For the purposes of this paper, the model being explored is ‘selling’ resources to 
other local authorities by operating under an agency approach. 
 

4. Revenues and Benefits Shared Service – operating under an agency 
approach 
 

4.1 Officers are always proactive in looking for partnership opportunities, and recently 
signed a 5-year contract with West Lindsey District Council to administer their 
Business Rates function.  This was an extension of a previously year-on-year 
arrangement. 
 

4.2 If the shared service was to operate as an agency, it would either need to set itself 
up as a company and employ staff within the company – or could employ 
‘additional officers’ under City of Lincoln’s terms and conditions and then ‘sell’ 
these services to other local authorities.  The first approach is not preferred, as 
there would be associated costs (for example, legal, time/resources) in setting up 
as a company as well as HR-related matters relating to TUPE’ing existing staff into 
the company.  As the shared service is already operating successfully after an 
initial 2-3 year period of upheaval and uncertainty, it is not proposed to take action 
that affects existing staffing resources within the service as it is felt this would be 
counter-productive. 
 

4.3 Our shared service could choose to recruit additional officers, employ them on City 
of Lincoln Council’s terms and conditions – and then sell these services to other 
organisations/ local authorities.  This could work as local authority officers are 
generally paid significantly less than agency officers – for example, a Benefits 
Officer in our shared service is currently paid between £8.25 and £11.72 per hour, 
depending on which point of the career grade they have reached.  Agency 
Benefits Officers generally attract between £20-£25 per hour (which includes a fee 
of usually £2-£3 per hour as the agency’s ‘cut’).  If our shared service could offer 
agency officers for more than £11.72 per hour but less than £20 per hour, this 
would most likely be attractive to other local authorities who may currently engage 
with agencies. 
 

4.4 However, officers believe that at this point in time the ‘risks’ involved in setting up 
an agency far outweigh potential advantages, these risks being: 

80



 

 Difficulty recruiting to meet potential demand; 

 Responsibility and cost of training officers would be with our shared service; 

 Any future redundancy costs would be with the shared service.  Particularly 
with the rollout of Universal Credit, there is the potential for redundancy 
costs moving forward (although the Department for Work and Pensions 
may pay some of these, providing local authorities have done everything 
possible to re-deploy staff); 

 Competing demands – naturally the shared service would look to ensure its’ 
work was in the optimum position before ‘selling’ officer time to other local 
authorities – this could in fact increase the cost of the shared service; 

 Insufficient demand for these services; 

 As officers would be under City of Lincoln Council’s Terms and Conditions, 
they would be entitled to holiday pay etc – also, the host authority would 
incur costs relating to National Insurance, Pension etc. 

 Office space does is not available in the current accommodation for 
Revenues and Benefits. 

 
4.5 Although this report recommends that due to the reasons outlined in paragraph 4.4 

it is not the right time at the moment to pursue the ‘shared service as an agency’ 
approach at the moment, officers are proactively continuing to seek opportunities 
to work collaboratively with other organisations, which in turn can increase 
resilience whilst bringing income into the shared service. 
 

5. Strategic Priorities 
 

5.1 Growing the local economy:  Granting of Business Rates reliefs as appropriate can 
assist businesses to succeed and grow.  
 

5.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln and North Kesteven:  The Benefits 
Service has a key role in reducing poverty and disadvantage; by ensuring 
residents receive the benefits they are entitled to and providing money/debt 
advice. 
 

6. Organisational Impacts 
 

6.1 Finance:  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, 
although if an agency approach was to be progressed a full financial assessment 
would need to be carried out. 
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules:  There are no direct Legal or 
Procurement implications arising from this report, although if an agency approach 
was to be progressed a full legal assessment would need to be carried out. 
 

6.3 Human Resources:  There are no direct Human Resources implications arising 
from this report, although if an agency approach was to be progressed a full 
assessment would need to be carried out. 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 Risks are set out in paragraph 4.4 of this report. 

81



 
8. Recommendation  

 
8.1 Members consider this paper and determine whether or not it is appropriate to 

further explore the shared service operating as an agency – and/or ask officers to 
review this matter in 12-18 months’ time once the further rollout of Universal Credit 
may be clearer as well as plans with regard to further localisation of Business 
Rates. 
 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

Yes/No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

None 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Martin Walmsley, Head of Shared Revenues and 
Benefits 

Telephone (01522) 873597 
 

82



 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS & PUBLIC 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE & TOWN CLERK 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

CAROLYN WHEATER, MONITORING OFFICER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To advise members that any agenda items following this report are considered to 

contain exempt or confidential information for the reasons specified on the front 
page of the agenda for this meeting. 
 

2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 
 

It is recommended that the press and public be excluded from the meeting at this 
point as it is likely that if members of the press or public were present there would 
be disclosure to them of exempt or confidential information. 

 

83

Item No. 11



This page is intentionally blank.



Document is Restricted

85

Item No. 12



This page is intentionally blank.



Document is Restricted

89

Item No. 13



This page is intentionally blank.



Document is Restricted

97



This page is intentionally blank.



Document is Restricted

99



This page is intentionally blank.


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 24 May 2016
	3 Members' Summary of Reports
	4 Communications Update
	5 Performance Update
	Performance Update - Appendix 1

	6 Quarter 1 2016/17 Financial Monitoring
	7 Annual Report 2015/16
	Annual Report 2015-16 - Appendix 1

	8 Welfare Reform Update
	Welfare Reform Update - Appendix 1
	Welfare Reform Update - Appendix 2

	9 Internal Audit Report - Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support
	Internal Audit Report - Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support - Appendix 1

	10 Shared Service as an Agency
	11 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	12 Revenues and Benefits ICT Contract
	13 Review of Shared Service
	Review of Shared Service - Appendix 1
	Review of Shared Service - Appendix 2


